Editorial: 
FRUSTRATION OF STATE
					
Few days before the attack on the Editor’s residence by army, a BBC correspondent from West Bengal who was preparing his report of 60 years of Indian independence, had cautioned the Editor that the report “Facts Under Ground” has been taken very seriously by military and other agencies in the state. He further stated that the disclosure of the unidentified graves had disturbed them.  Other journalist friends from different agencies had also cautioned the Editor. The report, according to them, had caused a stir in the security apparatus of the state. The report evoked severe reaction from the general public. Activists across the globe gave sleepless nights to government of India. Some well wishers had advised the Editor to shift to a `safer’ place along with his family.   The government and the law enforcing agencies believed that the report was aimed at scuttling the forthcoming elections in the state and had a potential to disturb the ‘peace process’ and delay restoration of ‘normalcy’. 
Internationally, the Kashmir Centres located in different European counties, also started lobbying with the governments and INGO. The report was reprinted by these institutions and widely circulated. Earlier also the reports like “Death but Not Forgotten” election monitoring report “Independent Election Observers Team Report 2002” prepared by the JKCCS were also reprinted but the report “Facts Under Ground” was powerful and it became convenient for them to lobby and make it a humane issue / mass grave issue, therefore, inviting desired attention from different quarters. 
Encouraged by the overwhelming response of the report, overconfident about the security many blunders were committed. Following the advice of some enthusiastic activists, the public notification in the form of advertisement was published in the local dailies, requesting people to provide information to CCS / APDP about the mass graves located in their respective areas. Further the JKCCS publicly committed that a comprehensive report on all unidentified / mass graves in the state of J&K including Poonch and Rajouri will be released on the International Day of Disappeared (IDD). It sounded alarm bells in the corridors of the security agencies. It proved red rag to them.  The comprehensive report would have been completed surreptiously like the first report, using mega phones was problematic and provocative, as it proved later. When the state has no legal justification to fix than it uses extra legal measures. And to censor the sensitive information the ancient form of censorship is adopted i.e. the assassination. Human rights noises are acceptable to state to a certain extent. They allow it till it remains ineffective. Once the demarcated line is crossed and if it embarrasses the government and dents its image or ego that too before the international community, than the state shows its real face. It clamps down with all its means available to silence these voices, which they feel are further likely to embarrass it. The attempt this time was made by IB and RAW, the premier intelligence agencies of India, for whom such overt operations are no Greek.  Earlier also few attempts were made on the Editor particularly on April 30-2005 when gunmen believed to be army men in civvies shortly after laying of foundation stone of the memorial to be build in the memory of desaparecidos.   This time the local police was bypassed, as later the Editor learned privately that the state police had nothing to do with this operation. 
Intimidation, threats, assassination of the dissidents is the part of the human history. In the present times state has become more brutish, notwithstanding, the states adhering to International Conventions. People having audacity to expose the lies of the state and having courage to speak the truth were silenced but the mission has been carried forward by the fellow travelers. The human resilience is such that a mission can be temporarily stopped but not permanently blocked.  
The attempt by the state was also related to the International People’s Tribunal, which was announced on April 5 this year of which prominent civil society actors became a part.  While on a fact-finding mission on the nameless graves the Tribunal members were stopped and detained in Kupwara district. In order to scuttle this international process and to keep renowned activists away from the Tribunal the fact-finding team was harassed. The attempt de-construct some beliefs like that elite cannot be touched and or activists having international recognition cannot be harmed doesn’t make any difference to the state and also that how the international organization meant to protect human rights defenders in the conflicts stand to the test of the time. Every disadvantage has an advantage and a strategy has to be adopted that the initiatives have to be institutionalized and developed as a hydra so that the process should continue and individuals shouldn’t become indispensable 

INTERNATIONAL PEOPLE’S TRIBUNAL INTIMIDATED, DETAINED IN NORTH KASHMIR
On June 20, a team of  “International Peoples Tribunal on Human Rights and Justice in Kashmir” visited the northern district of Kupwara, a heavily militarized zone about 95 kms from Srinagar, to conduct its investigations in the area, as part of its ongoing work to be conducted in 2008-2009. 
The team comprised of Tribunal’s Conveners Dr. Angana Chatterji and Advocate Parvez Imroz, with a Tribunal staff member and camera crew. They first visited a mass grave in Trehgam village and interacted with inhabitants of the area. After which the team reached Regipora around 3pm and stopped at a hotel for lunch. 	After the team came out of the hotel two persons, one in a blue check shirt and another in a white shirt, introducing themselves as Special Branch Kashmir (SBK) and Counter Intelligence Kashmir (CIK) personnel. They questioned the Tribunal staff member about the purpose of visit. After responding, Tribunal members moved ahead.
The team visited martyr graveyard Regipora, after which they stopped at a nearby tea stall to speak with locals about the nameless graves. Four persons, including the previous two again came to question the members of the team and introduced themselves as the SBK, CIK personnel: Who are you? What are you doing here? How many villages you visited since morning? Who are the persons whom you interviewed since morning? Are you a foreign national? (to Dr. Chatterji who is a citizen of India and resident of the US). The team again answered their questions without any argument.
After this episode ended another four persons establishing themselves as SBK and CIK personnel came to the scene. The personnel asked the members, how many foreigners are there in the team and are they carrying passports with them? The personnel again asked who the Lady is. What is she? Which are the places you visited from the morning? And whom did you talk and interviewed from the morning? 
Three more persons, who were at different locations in the market, and seen making phone calls constantly, questioned the team: ‘Did you take any footage and pictures from the places you visited?’ The team again answered to their queries. In total, there were 12 intelligence personnel. The questioning by the personnel took around one hour. Then the team proceeded towards Srinagar. While the team rode back, a car started to follow it. The team detoured from the highway and went to another site of mass grave in the area. 
After the team left the last site, they were stopped at Shangargund, Sopore, at around 6:40 pm by three persons in plain cloths. The personnel ordered the driver of car to get down and took him aside. The driver was asked, ‘Which places you visited?’ he replied them and then the three persons without proving their identity forcibly boarded the Sumo vehicle, which was already filled to capacity. These personnel without proving their credentials or offering justification ordered the team to come to Police Station Sopore. When the members asked for identification, they responded that they would introduce themselves in the police station. 
At the police station Advocate Imroz, Dr. Chatterji, and the cameraperson were asked to give details of their identity, the purpose of Kupwara visit, and asked to hand over the tapes which the police alleged contained ‘dangerous’ and ‘objectionable’ material. Dr. Chatterji and Advocate Imroz stated that the Tribunal, a publicly announced process, ongoing since April 05, 2008, had been undertaking its work peaceably, lawfully, with informed consent of local people and that they had not visited restricted areas, and stated that the police had no lawful reason to demand the seizure of the tapes. At the police station, where the Tribunal members were detained for 16 minutes, the Tribunal team received calls from presspersons and other concerned citizens. After several calls to the senior police persons, the police released the Tribunal team.
After the team left the police station a red colored Indica car, which came out from the Police Station Sopore, tailed the Tribunal team again up to Sangrama. 
In addition, there are Intelligence personnel stationed at Dr. Chatterji’s hotel. On June 21, she was followed from her hotel by Intelligence to the Tribunal’s office in Lal Chowk, Srinagar, where about 8 personnel have been stationed the entire day questioning any person that leaves or enters the office. A van was parked at the Amira Kadal outside Tribunal’s office was seen taking video of the people coming in and out of the office.  
The Tribunal is gravely concerned that team members are being singled out for intimidation and harassment by the government - Police, intelligence, and other agencies. As well, Dr. Chatterji was stopped and intimidated at Immigration while leaving India for the US where she is a professor of anthropology, in April after announcing the Tribunal, and again on her re-entry in June. 
The Tribunal is extremely concerned at the harassment and intimidation directed at the team and how some of its members are surveilled. The intimidation and harassment makes further dangerous the work of the Tribunal, which remains daunting under the best of circumstances. The Tribunal members remain gravely concerned that such interventions stand in the way of the Tribunal carrying out its responsibilities to communities affected by the culture of violence in Kashmir.
               An urgent appeal was sent to different human rights organizations for their intervention so that the Tribunal’s process will not be harassed, intimidated or threatened and that its members, as human rights defenders can continue their work. 
LAND TRANSFER ISSUE
KASHMIRIS KILLED FOR CLAIMING THEIR LAND
The contentious 100 acres land transfer to Shri Amarnathji Shrine Board (SASB) expose not only upsurge the anger among masses in Kashmir but also fuelled mass uprising similar to 1990’s situation. However, in this land battle at least four innocent lives were lost in the last week of June. 
The protests started on June 23 with alarming slogans against the government over the transfer of land to the shrine board. The first day protests started in the Downtown area of Srinagar and in the evening the situation there became more fussy at a time when a person identified as Feroz Ahmad Rah, 35, S/o Late Ghulam Hassan of Jogiwan, Botakadal was killed by CRPF troopers at Nowhatta Chowk while he was protesting and around 40 other persons got injured in the incident.  Feroz was hit by a bullet, which was fired by the CRPF troopers. He was father of three and a conductor by profession
Next day on June 24 the protests continued in several areas of Srinagar and Ganderbal and around 100 persons including 17 policemen and seven paramilitary CRPF troopers got injured in the clashes. On the same day (June 24) out of 100 injured, 40 persons got injured only in Ganderbal area while they were protesting against the land transfer. Police in Ganderbal used teargas shells and Bamboo sticks to disband the mobs and even resorted to aerial firing wounded scores of people. Around 80 persons were injured in the Srinagar city. 
Then on June 25 the bloodiest day of the month, two persons were shot dead by the SOG and CRPF Troopers while dispersing the protesters and around 200 persons got injured in the clashes between protesters and armed forces. The protesters who were killed in the CRPF and SOG firing were identified as Farooq Ahmad Rather.
 Farooq Ahmad Rather of Mazhama, Magam was killed when he was studying at his home. The local residents while talking to team said that the police Task Force had resorted to rigorous aerial firing and while chasing away the protestors, the personnel’s entered the famous Arif Ballah Sana sahib lane (alley).
On hearing the firing shots, as Farooq Ahmad who was inside his home preparing for his exams was killed by the Police Task Force when he was peeping through the windowpane.
The brutality of the perpetrators, according to locals, did not end here. They barged into the house of the victim and later dragged his body to the street. It was only after when people chased away the so-called “law enforces” that they could get the body of the victim back.
         On June 28, 27-year-old Sameer Ahmad Batloo ferried a group of pilgrims to Baltal and when back home handed over the Tata Sumo taxi to the owner, he fell to the wanton firing by CRPF troopers who went berserk after a stiff clash with irate mobs. 
A team of PCHR visited the grieved family on June 30, 
       Sameer’s father Ghulam Muhammad Batloo was speechless. His eyes appeared dried up as if looking for answer to a question, which he is unable to ask: “Was he killed for ferrying the pilgrims to Baltal?” 
        The killing has shattered an already struggling family. Sameer was the eldest son of Ghulam Muhammad’s three children that include a yet to be married 24-year-old daughter and the youngest of all Abdul Wahid. Sameer and his sister Nazima had long ago dropped out of school following the illness of their father who worked as a chauffer against a paltry sum. The children have grown up at Karafali Mohallah in a shack like structure, which has a dingy basement and atop it a 10x10 room with wooden walls. The family cannot afford the commonly used coir mats or plush rugs yet the room is neatly furnished with the traditional throws. None including Sameer owns a mobile phone.
         Moving wails of Sameer’s mother, Shahzada describe how much the family depended upon him. “O ye CRP man …why did not you kill me along with him…how can I live. How will I marry off my daughter…please come and pump some bullets in my chest…come o brute. Kill me. For God’s sake, kill me,” Shahzada laments in a spacious tent erected in a nearby school compound. 
         In a mournful statement, Shahzada explains how Sameer’s killing has literally derailed the family. “We were planning to sell out this house and buy a new place where Nazima could be married off. I was dreaming of Sameer’s marriage for I would be left alone after Nazima’s marriage. But everything went wrong…”
Sameer’s younger brother, Abdul Wahid has just passed his matriculation and got admission in higher secondary. He knows for sure that he would be the third dropout in the family. “After all I have to sustain my family. I know I will have to focus on earning livelihood for my parents and sister.” Ghulam Muhammad, who rarely works because of his illness, says, “I was happy that at least Wahid will complete his degree. But fate had this in store for us.”
Sameer’s sister Nazima is dagger in chest. “He (Sameer) used to tell me he is saving money to construct a new house and then to find a good match for me. Our all dreams are shattered now. How can my younger brother meet the two ends?”
How was Sameer killed?
Muhammad Maqbool, a neighbour of Sameer, narrates the whole episode how Sameer was shot at near Fateh Kadal. “Sameer was a driver by profession. He had arrived three days ago before his death, after leaving a group of Amarnath Yatris at Baltal, Sonmarg. On this fateful day, he left to the owner of his vehicle to check whether his vehicle was serviced. I (Maqbool) was adjacent to the main chowk Fateh Kadal watching the stone pelting from a distance. In the meantime, I saw Sameer coming close to the CRPF bunker on which youth were pelting stones. As Sameer reached near the bunker, CRPF troopers opened three bullets; one hit Sameer’s head, second hit another fellow’s arm and third went waste. I rushed to the spot, to remove Sameer to the hospital, but he bled to death on spot. He was not pelting stones, not at all.” 
While talking to the team, the relatives of the deceased said that he had gone for the routine work on that fateful day. People had come to streets across the Srinagar city to raise their voices against controversial land order issue.
June 28: Another precious life identified as Imtiyaz Ahmad, 19, of Firdous colony Bemina was killed by CRPF while he was returning home after playing cricket. 
According to his friend who was with him at the time of his killing and other eye witnesses, on hearing the slogans and protests of the horde of people, Imtiyaz and his friend who were returning to their homes after playing cricket, tried to escape from the scene. 
Meanwhile, police resorted to aerial firing in order to disperse the protestors and in the process, some policemen \caught hold of Imtiyaz Ahmad and after beating him to pulp, fired some bullets on him. On seeing the brutal incident, when people tried to pick him up, police lobbed several tear gas shells on the people. However, he was later taken to the hospital in a critical condition where he breathed his last on June 29.
CRPF BARGE INTO HOUSES, BEAT RESIDENTS
June 29: Residents of Srinagar localities accused CRPF personnel of barging into the houses, misbehaving with females and beating up the inmates to pulp.
The residents of Shaheed Gunj, Habba Kadal and adjoining areas alleged that para-military CRPF personnel broke the windows and glass panes of almost entire locality. They also accused CRPF personnel of barging into their houses and abusing the female inmates.
An elderly person, Ghulam Ahmad of Shajeed Gunj said, “After the protest demonstrations, the CRPF personnel barged into our houses and misbehaved with the women folk. They abused our daughters and sisters. By resorting to such acts, they want to prevent us from protesting against the transfer of 800 kanals of forest land to Shri Amarnath Shrine Board”.
He said, “The protests against the land transfer in the area have been peaceful but strangely the troopers are committing excesses after every protest”.
A woman at Shaheed Gunj was shouting at the police and para-military personnel near the Police Station Shaheed Gunj. She alleged that they abused her and her daughter after the protests. 
“If you want to kill me, go ahead, but don’t abuse us”, she told the police and para-military personnel standing near the police station.
“After failing to break our resolve, the police and para-military are attacking our women. They want us to stop protesting against the transfer of land,” said a youth, Aijaz Ahmad.
“We will not stop our agitation and neither will tolerate abuse of our sisters, daughter and mothers”, he added.
The residents of Haba-Kadal said that the troopers have vandalized more than 100 vehicles parked in the area. They accused the para-military personnel of also causing damage to houses.
A pharmacist told media that the CRPF personnel visited his medical shop and took medicine.  
“They left without paying for the medicines. When I asked them about the payment they warned me that if I demand money from them they would beat me and damage my shop. Fearing for my life, I decided against asking payment from them”.
The residents of the area pointing towards the broken glass-panes of the houses alleged that the CRPF personnel, who hurled stones and bricks towards the houses, damaged these. 
“After every protest demonstration, the CRPF personnel throw stones towards the houses, damaging the window panes”, they added.
They further said that the troopers beat many teenagers and minors to pulp. The residents of Safa Kadal alleged that the CRPF personnel barged into their houses. “They forced their entry into our houses and beat up the inmates including females”, said Ishfaq Ahmad. 
He said that the para-military troopers have ransacked several residential houses in the area. “The troopers also smashed the windscreens of several parked vehicles,” said the residents.  
They further said that the para-military personnel were beating the youth on Sunday. “Anybody who came out of the house on road was beaten by the CRPF personnel. Even the troopers did not show any respect to the elderly persons and beat them also.
KOKERNAG LABOURER KILLED IN FAKE ENCOUNTER IN BANDIPORA
FOR ONE LAKH REWARD MONEY, ARMY’S SOURCE GOT HIM KILLED
June 3: on June 3, 2008 army handed over an unidentified body to police station Bandipora. The police registered an F.I.R No. 108/08 under Section 302- RPC that stated, “A patrolling party of Army which was on its way to cordon Chailwan forests on June 3 heard some gunshots on its way. When we (army) rushed towards the spot a man was already dead there. We informed head of the village, who came with other villagers. After inquiring about the killed man we came to know that he is not the resident of the area so we handed over the body to the police at the same spot in presence of the Assistant Superintendent of Police, village head and Station House Officer Bandipora.”  Whereas, residents of Bandipora claimed that army had killed the person in fake encounter. 
Next day police official from Bandipora police station told media,” Body is here, we cannot say who has killed him,” and refused to divulge any further details. Following the outrage by the people of area over allege killing, Inspector General of police, Kashmir Range SM Sahai addressed media that the police are investigating the case. “The bullet ridden body was handed over to police by Army and we are investigating it,” IG said and added,” Yet we cannot say who has killed him till investigations did not reveal anything.”
In respond to the resident’s claim that the person was killed in fake encounter the Army Brigadier U K Gurung of 81 Mountain Brigade vehemently denied the killing of unidentified persons by Army. “The patrol party of my troops heard the gun shots and rushed to the spot and found the youth dead in Brar Nalla”, said Brigadier
The Army officer said that the police and locals were called on spot and nobody identified the deceased. He said,” the allegations of villagers are baseless and killing of innocent would not after all help the Army any way. My troopers have killed top commanders and militants and we never killed a person in cross fire, not to talk of fake encounter or custodial killing. It is a cooked up story only to defame the troopers,” he said.
Only eighteen days after on June 22 while addressing a press conference, Additional Superintendent of Police (ASP) Bandipora, Zahid Malik said, "We have arrested two youths Reyaz Ahmed Chichi alias Regan of Cahttey Bandey Aragam and Tahir Pathan of Sheikh Muqam Aloosa. Both the criminals revealed that they have killed Ashraf, (unidentified dead body)" Malik said.
"During the investigation it was revealed that Reyaz Ahmed conspired with Tahir to kill Ashraf,” said Malik, about the involvement of Army in the case, Malik said, “We are investigating the case. There is no clue regarding Army’s involvement. They were on patrol in the area on that day but Ashraf was killed before they reached the spot. In the coming five to 10 days the case will be challaned and culprits punished," said Malik. Both the accused are involved in various crimes and cases are under investigation against them in various police stations including Police Station Budgam.
Police recorded the confessional statement both from Riyaz Cheechi and his accomplice Tahir Pathana, Rifleman in JAKLI who lives at Aloosa Bandipora. As per Cheechi’s account, which he narrated to his interrogators, “Tahir had actually introduced him to army and he was working as a ‘source’ for some months. He used to get monetary assistance from army quite frequently till he was asked to ‘get a militant and earn one lakh rupees”. 
Tahir Pathan during sustained interrogation, spilled the beans and also revealed the same story that Commanding Officer of 3-JAKLI, Col Balaji, had given him Rs 1.00 lakh and requested him to get at least one militant as the unit's performance had been remarkably dull for last few weeks. According to him, he passed on two installments of Rs 20,000 and one installment of Rs 7,000 to his friend and source Riyaz Chichi. Failing to get a militant, Riyaz went to Dalgate, Srinagar where he met Muhammad Ashraf Sheikh, a labourer from South Kashmir’s Larnoo Village. 
Asharf was residing in a rented house at Dalgate Srinagar like other laborers and used to wait every morning near Dalgate till someone hired him for any laboring job.  June 3, 2008 was not different; Riyaz Ahmad Cheechi alighted from a Tata Sumo taxi under registration number JK05/0281 and approached him with an offer promised him Rs 500 a day. Sheikh consented and boarded the Sumo. When the Sumo kept rolling toward North Kashmir, Sheikh wondered why they were heading north, as they asked him to work in Karan Nagar Srinagar. However Cheechi insisted that Ashraf accompanied him on his trip to Bandipora for some ‘personal work’.  
	Ashraf Sheikh did not know that he was going to meet the fate of his neighbor Abdul Rehman Paddar, who was picked up from Srinagar, killed in a fake encounter and buried as a “foreign militant” in the countryside at Ganderbal in 2006.
The vehicle reached Brar, a sparsely populated forest area of Bandipora, around 1 pm. Abhishek Chowdhary, Commander of JAKLI 3 at Bonakoot camp was already waiting at Brar post. Cheechi and Sheikh disembarked for a break while Sheikh prepared himself for afternoon prayers and offered Nimaz.
	By the time Sheikh finished his prayers Cheechi informed army that Sheikh is a militant, he had brought from Srinagar. The soldiers encircled Sheikh and shot him dead. Later hand over the body at Police Station Bandipora. According to Pathan's statement, which was corroborated by Chichi, Maj Devinder Tehlan, led the party of 3-JAKLI, which took Ashraf Sheikh to a hillock near Bandipora. He was told that he was going to die. Thereafter, he was allowed to perform prayers at a house. He handed over Rs 500, an I-card and some documents to the 3-JAKLI party, also accompanied by Tahir Pathan and Riyaz Chichi. Thereafter, troops told him that they were just joking. As he was asked to go and walked a few steps, he was shot in the head and back. He died on spot. Later, Maj Devinder Tehlan's party dropped the dead body at Police Station Bandipora. After receiving the body, police lodged FIR report and buried the dead body with the help of local residents of Bandipora.
	According to Ashraf’s relatives, his family came to know about his ‘disappearance’ on June 6, when his landlord called them on telephone inquiring about Ashraf’. Next day his family members reached Srinagar to trace his whereabouts. After failed efforts to trace him out, they lodged a missing report at Nehru Park police station, which registered a case under FIR number 25, dated June 16. 
	They came to know about his death only after his photograph was published in daily newspapers with his phone number 990650479. When they reached Bandipora with his photograph, a resident told them he had seen the same person with one Riyaz Cheechi. While the family members approached police they identified the body from his photographs, which were in possession of police and also knew that Cheechi and Tahir who was behind his killing are in Police custody for past 12 days.  On June 23 Police exhumed Ashraf’s body from Bandipora 19 days after he was killed in Brar village of Bandipora allegedly by army. The exhumation of Ashraf son of Muhammad Akbar of Darvy Nimatpora Larno, Kokernag was carried in presence of Magistrate, Bandipora who was accompanied by a team of doctors and in charge SHO Bandipora Feroze Ahmed. Later the slain youth’s blood samples were taken for a medical check up.
Police carried out the exhumation in early morning to conceal the exhumation process .Ashraf’s two brothers Nazir Ahmed and Bashir Ahmed were also present during the exhumation. Talking to media, Nazir said, “Police and Deputy Commissioner, Bandipora harassed us in many ways. They compelled us to switch off our mobile phones. We were restless to contact media from the day he was killed but police and the DC didn't allow us to do that Ashraf was identified after his photograph was published in daily newspapers with his phone number 990650479”.
One question that haunts everybody is, why did Chachi land in jail after getting Ashraf Sheikh killed? According to the interrogation report, Cheechi rushed back to Srinagar after Ashraf Sheikh was killed in cold blood. Here, police sources say, he tried to elope with a girl and was arrested along with her on June 11. Police said they have solved the mystery however the mystery is yet to be resolved.
“FOR GOD SAKE DON’T DISAPPEARED MY SON”
Zona Begum in quest of her son, who disappeared during police custody
“If he is militant, if he has committed any crime then punish him according to the  law, but for God sake don’t disappear him” pleaded Zona Begum, of Tiller,Marwah village of Kashtiwar Tehsil who is in quest of her lone son, Mohammad Rafi sheikh, who disappeared while in police custody, which accused him of being involved in various grenade attacks. Zona went from pillar to post in search of him, she approached authorities several times but nobody paid heed to his pleas. During eight years of her search, hope and despair played hide and seek with her.
Zona’s search started some eight years ago when Mohammad Rafi, 20 years old then, disappeared from his native village, when he had taken the cattle to the nearby posture, “At the time of his disappearance, he had appeared in 9th class examination and was sanguine about his results. On the day of his disappearance, he in the morning insisted me to take the cattle to the nearby forest to graze them. First I refused, because I did not want him to do such job, I wanted to educate him. But, on his incessant insistence I permitted him. He took the cattle in morning but did not come back when the cattle revisited home in the evening of their own”, said Zoona Begum.
Zona, then searched her son everywhere but could not locate her anywhere. She filed the missing report in Kashtiwar police station, but proved futile. She also went to his school after she received a letter from his school authorities about his protracted absence. She also received result report of her son from there, declaring Rafi as passed candidate with good marks, which Zona said, “has kept it preserved as a souvenir”. She added, “I will always remain remorseful about my decision of permitting him to graze the cattle”.  
Continuous, prolonged, fruitless search shattered all Zona’s hopes of locating her son, which after six years, in 2006 got re-enkindled after she received the news that her son had been nabbed by the Srinagar police in connection with multiple grenade attacks at Srinagar and Jammu. “In 2006, we received message from police station Kashtiwar that my son has been arrested by police and is laying in air cargo Srinagar,” said Zona.
On 23 July 2006, Rafi ‘s name came to public with the assumed name of Mudasir Gojri, when Director General of police Mr. Gopal Sharma claimed before the press that police had nabbed notorious LeT militant, allegedly involved in several bomb blasts at Srinagar and Jammu. Police accused him of directly involved in grenade blast on congress rally at Srinagar on 21, May 2006, grenade attacks on tourists at Srinagar, Ganderbal and Gulmarg and attacks on Shiv Shena workers few days after they mistreated anti occupation leader Sayed Ali Shah Geelani at Jammu. “ He was most wanted militant who would work on the direction of Pakistani LeT militant, Abul-Qama. Police was first under the impression that he is Pakistani Militant, but during interrogation we came to know that his name is Mohammad Rafi Alais Mudasir Gojri and Raju.” Stated Mr. Sharma before media persons. (Courtesy daily Aftab, dated 23, July, 2006).
 Zona and his family several times met Rafi at Srinagar air cargo jail, every time she found him in bad condition, “ on first visit Rafi’s father and sister and aunty went to see him. After then, I also went to see him several times in Srinagar, I every time found him in bad condition. His arms and legs were broken and handcuffed together with apparent torture marks.” Zona claimed. 
When asked, what did Rafi say about his whereabouts during eight years of disappearance, she replied, “ During our meet with him at Srinagar cargo jail, he could not say anything because police personnel were all around there. He only signaled us to keep mum.”
 Zona also said that during the time, she also filed a case in Session Court Srinagar and Rafi several times appeared before court as well.  But she said, when she went to see him forth time in Srinagar, she was informed that Rafi has been transferred to Jammu for some enquiry reasons. 
    	“At Kothi Bagh police station SSP Srinagar, S.Mujtaba told me that he has been sought by Jammu police for some ten days and is detained at Jammu bus stand police station. When they did not return him for several days, I went to Jammu to meet him but the police denied his detention. I went to several other jails at Jammu as well but everywhere jail authorities denied his presence in their jails,” said Zona.
	Zona said that at Kot Bhalwal one of the police personnel told her that her son has eluded from police custody. Police later on 16/5/2007 also sent notice to high court that Rafi gave slip to police and escaped when police was taking him to forest to recover arms and ammunition. But Zona is not going to believe it.
  	 “Police had broken his arms and legs, he was unable to move a single inch and police every time would keep him handcuffed. It was not possible for him to elude from clutches of police”, said Zona. 
She further pleaded, “If my son has done any crime, if he was militant then he should be punished according to law. But don’t disappear him. If they have killed my son then why did not they give me his dead body”.
 	Zona is left with two daughters both unmarried and his husband is unable to work. They don’t have any other source of income.
IQBAL NARRATES HIS SAGA
FATHER DISAPPEARED & MOTHER KILLED
Mohammad Iqbal Kataria, son of Atta Mohammad, resident of Kamalkote, Tehsil Uri approached office of The Informative Missive and narrated the disheartening anecdote of his parent’s loss. He recollected the memories of his father’s enforced disappearance by the troops of BSF’s 131 Battalion in the year 1990 and the killing of his mother in front his eyes in the year 1995 by some unidentified gunmen. Iqbal seeks justice and compassion from the authorities but so far he has not succeeded and faced miseries.    
While talking to The Informative Missive he stated, “On the ominous day of 26th May, 1990 at around 4pm some BSF personnel of 131 Battalion after verifying our address came to our house. My father was a retired JCO (Junior Commissioned Officer) and was working with AMC (Army Medical Core). The BSF group was headed by an Inspector namely C.L. Sharma belonging to the BSF Camp Jhula, Kalgai. Some personnel came to our house and told my father that their officer C. L. Sharma is feeling some pain and needs some treatment. On their saying my father left the house along with the First Aid Box and went to see Inspector (BSF) near a spring which is situated in front of the Nagraz Mosque, Kamalkote and but did not return back. When my father left out to see the inspector I along with other persons accompanied him. On reaching near the spring the Inspector told my father that DIG (Deputy Inspector General) BSF of the concerned area wants to meet him. That time the office of the DIG was in Baramulla and they took him along and told us that he would come back tomorrow or day after tomorrow. But 18 years have passed and he is not anywhere and since then his whereabouts are not known.”
Iqbal added, “When my father did not return back for two days, we thought that he would come on 3rd day but when he did not return on 3rd day we thought that he may come back next day, with this expectation 18 years passed and there is no clue about him. We could not search him properly then because my family was comprised of my mother, Shawli, sister Parveena (19) and two brothers, Farooq (17) and Imran (13) and I my self was 15-year-old. So there was no elder member in the family who could have searched him in the BSF camps. But still my mother after the course of one month went to visit the BSF Camp Jhula and asked the officials about my father. The officials there told her that they sent her husband to DIG office Baramulla and don’t know anything after that. They denied any knowledge about him. Hopeless, She returns back to home. Later we search him at many places but nothing divulged out and BSF did not acknowledge his arrest.”   
“After a decade passed, in 2002, the DC Baramulla declared my father dead and issued ex-gratia relief to the tone of rupees one hundred thousand in our favour but could not provide compassionate employment under SRO-43 to one of our family members.” Said Iqbal 
He further said, “Then in 1995 on the fateful day of September 28 at around 7:30pm, some unidentified gunmen barged into our house and after breaking our main door started to fire indiscriminately. At that time my mother, my brother, Imran and I were staying in our house. Due to the indiscriminate firing my mother received many bullets on her right side of Chest, on abdomen and on the right arm, which wounded her critically and after half an our she succumbed to injuries at the very spot. After sudden firing the gunmen fled from our house.  We raised hue and cry and then our neighbors and some of our relatives rushed to our house. They tried to take my mother to the hospital but she died shortly. Regarding my mother’s case the government granted the ex-gratia relief of rupees 1 Lakh in 1996. But again the authorities did not consider the case for Compassionate Employment under SRO-43. I am agonized that neither my father’s disappearance case was investigated nor my mother’s killing was investigated. I lost both of my parents and still the authorities are reluctant in helping me and providing me the justice.”
Iqbal has also filed a case in the State Human Rights Commission and even it had given the judgment for providing the compassionate employment to one of the family members of the deceased but the district authorities according to Iqbal are delaying the process and do not want him to get the justice.
ARMY DISCLOSES ACCUSED COL’S WHEREABOUTS
June 6: Acting on High Court direction, State and Army attorneys on June 6 disclosed the whereabouts of an Army Colonel wanted in connection with the enforced disappearance of a chemist from city outskirts in 2002.
Three weeks ago the State High Court had directed the General Officer Commanding (GOC) Northern Command to provide the whereabouts of Colonel Kishore Malhotra who is wanted in connection with the enforced disappearance of Manzoor Ahmed Dar from Rawalpora Srinagar.
The army and the state counsels today informed the court that the colonel will be available at Brigadier Headquarter at Drass on June 16. “He will be available for the investigation team of the police probing the custodial disappearance of Manzoor,” the attorneys said.
According to the investigation carried out by police till date, the Colonel was the mastermind behind the abduction and enforced disappearance of Manzoor Ahmed Dar a medical shop owner who was picked up by troopers of Rashtriya Rifles on the intervening night of January 18 and 19 in 2002 from his house. Police investigations further revealed that Col Malhotra was active in Kralpora and adjoining areas when militancy in the Valley was at peak.
The army official, according to police, directed his subordinates to pick up civilians in the name of countering insurgency.
Manzoor’s wife filed a writ petition in the court in 2002 and since then Army has been delaying the proceedings.
18 YRS ON, KIN OF DISAPPEARED AWAIT GOVT PROMISED RELIEF
June 19: Muhammad Shafi Dar, resident of Lachmanpora-Batmaloo went missing some 18 years back and since then his family members have been running from pillar to post for relief. In February 2003, Dar’s name figured in the list of 45 people cleared by the state government for grant of relief in favour of Next of Kins (NOKS) of missing persons. However, his brother namely Nisar Ahmad was told a few days back by one of the officials at Deputy Commissioner Srinagar’s office that the file has been closed. But the official didn’t provide the reasons.
“I had gone to the DC office with the hope that the officials would hand me the appointment order, and also the cash relief given to the relatives of the persons who have gone missing over the years. But I was surprised when I was told that the file has been closed,” said Nisar while talking to media.  
The list was published in one of the vernacular dailies on February 21, 2003 and the file number in respect of Shafi’s case was 12695/R.Shafi went missing on May 22, 1990. His mother Raja, widow of Ghulam Mohammad Dar filed a case in the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) at Srinagar.  
In the complaint filed by Raja on 26-03-2003 it has been alleged that some unidentified person abducted her son Mohammad Shafi Dar, a student of class 12, on May 22, 1990 from his house and since then his whereabouts are not known. 
Raja could not file First Information Report (FIR) in the police station fearing little progress in the case. But somehow she gathered the courage and fought the case in SHRC. The commission took more than four years in coming out of the judgment and it was on November 20, 2007 that the decision went in favour of Raja. 
“She has requested to get her son traced out, culprits be punished and ex-gratia relief along with benefit of SRO 43 be given to her,” said the judgment. Referring to the report submitted by the then Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir the judgment says that a missing report was entered in the daily diary vide report no. 14 dated: 04-06-1990 of police station Batamalloo which was then functioning as a police post. 
“The matter was verified and it was found that the subject was lifted by 141 BN BSF during the intervening night of May 22 and 23, 1990 from his home along with his friend Ajaz Ahmad Bhat. Bhat was later released, but the whereabouts of Mohammad Shafi Dar are not known so far. The report further reveals that the subject was working with Al-Jehad outfit at that time,” the report of IGP said. The complainant was asked to file the rejoinder which she did without any let-up. 
As per the statement of Ajaz, both he and Shafi were taken to joint interrogation centre Hari Niwas and after eight days he was released, but the whereabouts of Mohammad Shafi Dar are not known, the judgment said. Following this the complainant approached the authorities at interrogation centre, but despite repeated requests she was not allowed to meet her son. She was informed by a youth of the locality that her son has died during interrogation. 
After this Raja approached the authorities, but to no avail. She was asked to produce witnesses in support of her defense. She produced Shabir Ahmad Dar, cousin of Shafi who testified that the victim was picked up by BSF in the year 1990 and he was not involved in any militant activity whatsoever. This statement corroborated the statement of Raja who had also said that her son was a student with no affinity with any militant outfit.
The SHRC observed that the statements given by the witness prove that Shafi was not connected with militancy.  
It also said that even though it is presumed that he is connected with militancy still then the police has to ensure the safety of the youth.  
The commission directed the then Director General of Police to register a case against 141 BN BSF. It also recommended to the government through Chief Secretary to pay Rs. two lakhs as interim relief to the complainant. 
Moreover, it was also directed that Raja’s other son Nisar Ahmad Dar be given benefit of SRO 43 and it should have been given within a period of one month. It was also urged that the Action Taken Report (ATR) be communicated to the Commission. The judgment was delivered by Justice M. Y. Kawoos, the then chairman SHRC.
DNA REPORT GOES AGAINST ARMY SAMPLES OF EXHUMED BODIES MATCH WITH RELATIVES
Rajouri Fake Encounter
June 6: The much-awaited DNA report of three persons of Kothedara Rajouri, killed allegedly in fake encounter by troops, has finally arrived. It says the samples match with those of their relatives, thereby confirming that those killed were civilians and not militants.
The persons were allegedly picked up by the troops of 18 Dogra regiment of Army from their houses in 1997 and killed in a fake encounter near Line of Control in Peerbadeser sector. Though the administration has not taken any decision in this regard, sources said the decision would be taken within a day or two. However, District Magistrate Rajouri, Sheikh Rafiq Ahmed, admitted that the DNA report was positive but refused to divulge further details saying final decision will be taken soon.
 	The persons were reportedly picked up by troops then stationed in Peerbadeser area of Rajouri. Identified as Muhammad Yousuf, Abdul Aziz and Muhammad Aziz, they were earlier working as porters with the same regiment.
 As per the relatives of the missing persons, a party of 18 Dogra regiment knocked at their doors and asked all the three persons to accompany them up to the Unit headquarter saying that concerned Commanding Officer, Mann Singh, wanted to see them.
 	After 15 days, when none of them returned, the relatives approached the concerned Unit and inquired about heir whereabouts. An officer of the Unit told them that all of them had returned to their homes after meeting the CO. In the meantime, they said Unit was shifted from the area. 
 	Since then the family members had been moving from pillar to post to get clue of their relatives. Even the police had not lodged a missing report. After 10 years, the family came to know through another informer that all the three were killed by Army in a fake encounter and later buried on LoC in two separate pits near Kancha Post in Peerbadesar area. 
After getting this clue the family members approached then District Magistrate Rajouri, Pervaiz Ahmed Malik, in March 2007 demanding exhumation of the bodies. On this, District Magistrate ordered an inquiry, which was later, completed in about three months. On June 20, 2007 District Magistrate ordered the exhumation of the bodies in presence of the relatives.     
A police team accompanied by doctors conducted the exhumation. The administration took the samples of the bodies and sent them to a forensic lab in Kolkatta, which gave its opinion on June 5, saying the samples match with those of the relatives. Sources said the motive behind the killing of these civilians was that they were the eyewitnesses of some of the wrong doings of CO 18 Dogra, for whom they were working. Farooq Ahmed, brother of one of the killed persons, says the said CO used to send these persons across LoC for brining narcotics, which later he used to sell in Punjab and other states. When the Unit got transferred, the CO apprehended leakage of his narcotic trade that is why he decided to kill them.
                 VICTIM FAMILIES OF TRIPLE MURDER CASE HELD A PRESS CONFERENCE
On June 13, 2008 victim families of triple murder case held a press conference concerning the acquittal of police personnel accused in the abduction and murder of their relative way back in June 1999. Abdul Rashid Khan Alias Rashid Billa, the main accused in the case of murdering three persons in 1999, by the Court of Session Judge, Jammu. 
 In the press conference families stated as: 
The acquittal of six accused persons name responsible Abdur Rashid Khan Alias Rashid Billa (SDPO) and the other police officials responsible for the killing of three youth namely, Nazir Ahmed Gilkar, Javed Ahmed Shah and Ghulam Rasool Mattoo who were arrested on 23rd of June 1999 is condemnable and serious miscarriage of justice.  The court had not acquitted main accused Rashid Ahmad khan alias Rashid Billa, as proceedings against him under section 512 of CR.P.C. were initiated and till date the decision of court as he remained absconding during trial, the court had rejected contention made by defense counsel that main accused be also acquitted on the plea that since he had not chosen to face trial therefore when the accused Abdul Rashid is arrested and appeared before court, the orders shall be post accordingly.
While narrating the incident victim family said that on 23rd June 1999 the trio while returning from the marriage ceremony were detained by the Soura Police station, where Nazir Ahmed Gilkar was tortured to death and his body was thrown in Dal Lake. The other two detainees were taken to Sheeri Baramulla where they were killed and buried secretively in Kichama graveyard. 
The case became high profile and was entrusted to Crime Branch and accused except Rashid Billa who remained absconding, were arrested and put on trial. Rashid Billa was believed to be living under the protection and patronage of then IGP Mr. Gill and staying at his farmhouse. The accused got the case transferred to Jammu. The Special Leave to Appeal filed against the transfer of case to Jammu, which caused inconvenience to the family members of the victims, was dismissed by the Supreme Court of India on 01-10-2001.
During trial out of 63 witnesses only 36 deposed and all the police witnesses turned hostile. They even contradicted their own statements made under section 161 of Cr. P.C. thereby paving way for the acquittal of the accused. According to the Sessions Judge, Jammu, observations:
“The police witnesses on whom the prosecution could depend upon in the case have not deposed even a word against the accused. The police witnesses have in totality denied the occurrence having taken place in the police station Soura. The statement of the police witnesses at the very first glance proves fatal for the prosecution. Their statements were very key for the prosecution as very important link could be established connecting the accused with the commission of offence. If the police witnesses are not supporting the prosecution version then who else is expected to depend for the prosecution.
Judiciary has now become very sensitive against acquittals in the cases where the investigation remains under pressure or the witnesses are turn hostile. The important cases like Priyadarshini Mattoo’s, Jessica Lal’s and the Best Bakery Case of Gujarat violence were the cases in which superior judiciary ordered re-trial and set aside the acquittals made in the trial courts. In Priyadarshini Mattoo’s case the accused Santosh Kumar who was acquitted by the trial court was finally convicted after the Delhi High Court in consequence of massive public outcry had fixed day-to-day trial and judgment was reached in 42 days. The original acquittal was over turned and Santosh Singh was found guilty of murder and rape. The court has observed that there has been inaction by Delhi Police and under influence of his father who was then the Joint Commissioner of Police in Delhi. Similarly in Jessica Lal’s case, the accused Mannu Sharma, son of the influential politician was also acquitted by the trail court but finally after the massive outcry from the civil society groups the Delhi High Court set aside the acquittal order and convicted Mannu Sharma for life imprisonment. Even the witnesses who turned hostile initially have been put on notice to explain why they should not be tried for perjury. 
In the state of Jammu Kashmir the acquittals are normal and conviction of the police officials is very rare. Even in the rape cases the accused have been acquitted. The glaring example is the rape case of mother and daughter from Banihal, where the accused army official has been acquitted by court. No appeals have been filed by the state. The triple murder case demonstrates that even in the high profile murder cases the conviction rate is zero and justice is a mirage for people. The only option left for the relatives of the triple murder case is to mobilize the public opinion and also expose the farcical institutions claimed to be upholders the rights of the people.
The relatives have decided to file an appeal seeking for re-trial of the investigation expecting the judiciary to follow the precedents made by the other high courts outside the state. The family members also expect the Judiciary to initiate action against the police witnesses for perjury. Fair trial in future demands prosecution of the high ranking official Mr. Gill who has been patronizing the prime accused, Rashid Billa, who is still absconding even after acquittal.
We the family members pledge that we shall not  rest till we get justice.      
             TORTURE TESTIMONYFamily name: Wani
First name: Shabir Ahmed S/o Ghulam Ahmed Wani 
Sex: male
Age: 42 years
Occupation: Shopkeeper
Residential address: Momkak Mohalla, Sopore.
Shabir’s life is not different from any other ex-militant in Kashmir. His life is full of fear, danger, hope and despair. Fear of getting arrested and tortured anytime by Indian forces, danger of getting added to the toll of custodial killings in Kashmir, hope of surviving this danger, despair of affecting the career of his children due to his previous connection with militancy. He became militant, (though he prefer to call himself Mujahid), in 1989, when he crossed over to Pakistan to get armed training. He returned from Pakistan in 1990, and became district commander of Al-Jihad tanzeem.  He believes that his only motive to get training from Pakistan was to free Kashmir from the clutches of Indian yolk.  While giving the account of reasons of becoming a Mujahid he said, “ I may be illiterate, not knowing much about the Kashmir issue but what I know is that it is old dispute right from the times of Ghandi and Jinna. I am aware about the UN directed Plebiscite, which India only promised but never fulfilled. I am also witness to the rigged election of 1989 in Kashmir, with which Kashmiris felt betrayed of and to which India also knows it betrayed us. This betrayal led people of all ages to cross border to get arms training. I also took up arms happily to reclaim our right to self-determination. Every Kashmiri supported the movement then, even mothers proudly send their sons for this genuine cause”.
                 He was arrested twice, after he took up arms. 5 grenadiers regiment of Indian Army first arrested him in 1990 when he was militant, they first kept him in Tappar camp and later shifted him to Kot Bhalwal, jail Jammu where he spent two years. Second time he was arrested in January 1993, at army check post on Baramulla-Uri national highway when he had shunned militancy. Shabir does not know the name of that particular battalion but he is sure that it was Indian army. They took him to some unknown place where he was tortured severely and later shifted to JIC (joint Interrogation Center), Baramulla. On both the occasions of his arrest he was tortured mentally as well as physically. He was so brutally beaten that he had to struggle between life and death. While narrating the ordeal of his arrest and subsequent torture he said,   
“When I was arrested first time, they (army) tortured me severely which aroused the feeling of fear, anger and shame in me. When I was taken to torture cell they first striped me naked which was more painful than anything else. They first beat me with lathis and belts. Then they ran heavy wooden roller over my legs right from ankles to thighs, further weighted down by several interrogators from both sides. Then they tied my hands from backside and suspending from ceiling, which fractured my shoulder joints, they would take me down after every half an hour whenever I would confess. They applied electric shocks to different parts of my body with which sexual problems like erective insensitivity are obvious to develop. They burnt my body by applying hot iron rods the marks of which are still manifest over my body. I remember clearly how the army C.O, Dayal Singh, while torturing me would drink, eat and torture simultaneously. The same torture methods continued for five days at stretch. I also remember the incident that how long beard of Molvi (Muslim Priest), who was quite old, was plucked and piled before us. This incident really stirred anger and horror into us. My wounds were left unattended which were attaining severity by every passing day. Sometimes they would take us to doctor but it was not to get cure but to get checked that whether we are fit for another torture or not. Every time we would expect that after looking our pathetic condition the doctor would suggest that we are not fit to endure torture anymore, but always reverse things would happen. The doctor would recommend us fit to bear torture after making cursory examination. Some army persons after seeing us in pain would threw painkillers towards us and some would torture us continuously till we faint. In jail also we had no access to doctors and medicines, they would visit us once or twice a week but they would not treat us but give only pills for pain. I don’t know how I survived the wounds; it is only by Allah’s grace that we still exist; otherwise it is not possible to come alive after going through such torture. The army wanted to kill me as I remember clearly that two army officers quarreled over my killing, as one among them wanted to kill me while other one opposed saying that I do not deserve such a fate.”
When he was released after spending two years at Kot Bhalwal jail, he decided to shunned the armed struggle and lead normal life, but the ruthless hands of armed force did not allow him to do so, as he was taken again by Indian army on mere suspicion and was subsequently tortured.
 “In 1993 I was a civilian, I had laid down my arms and I was no longer a militant. Once I was on my way to Uri along with my family. The army at one of the check post on a way stopped our car and told us to get down. They arrested me and left my family members there, who later on went to their home with one of my neighbor. Army took me to a nearby garden and started torturing me. First they several times forcibly dipped my head into bucket of water for about one minute each and simultaneously punched and kicked me. Then they put me into the pit filled with water, dug in the same garden and jabbed me with thick pointed stick. They later on put electric current into the pit with which I would go two to three feet high. They believed that I was still a militant and wanted arms and addresses of other militants from me. I kept on saying that I had given up arms long ago which they can confirm from the agencies that had arrested me before, but they refused to listen to me and kept on torturing me continuously, by dipping my head into water.  At evening they put me into nearby shed and start torturing me again. They continuously hit me on the temples with their fists that left me dazed and my mind stopped working. Then they pulled my fingers and started tearing them apart till they start bleeding. My fingers are still dislocated and I am unable to grasp things tightly. After some time when they stopped beating, my mind started getting conscious, I asked one of the army personnel for cigarette. He asked me how I was able to hold cigarette, when my hand was bleeding. I replied I would manage. But instead of giving me cigarette he clipped my ring finger with puller and twisted it and fractured it. Later on they left me there, but before leaving they told me that next day some major would come here and he would kill me and label it as encounter if I did not confess before him. They said that he had killed many militants like that. When they left, I saw a kerosene bottle in the corner of the shed I thought to kill myself with it, as I was not able to bear the pain of torture. I broke the bottle and tried it to stab myself in the stomach but I was not able to do it. I tried several times but could not do it perhaps I was scared. I sustained some cuts also across the stomach but could not stab the bottle in. In the mean time the soldiers came back and they stopped me to do this and I was tortured again by some 10 to 15 men. 
Next day they shifted me to JIC Baramulla, where I was put under third degree torture. They disrobed me completely and made me lay down, and then they stretched my legs apart to 180-degree angle. They kicked and punched me continuously. They rolled my legs with wooden logs having splinters, which would pierce through the muscles, as several men from both sides pressed the roller down. The roller gave the excruciating pain as I could feel my skin coming off and bones breaking. They also gave me electric shocks with their portable electric machine to my private parts as well. Then after about fifteen days I was released as they could not reveal anything from me.”    
His second arrest and subsequent torture has left the inerasable mark in his mind. He continuously is under the duress of getting arrest and tortured. Shabir believes that when army arrested him first time they had reason to arrest him but second time they arrest him on mere suspicion having no evidence. He said that the army could have crosschecked my credentials after corroborating with other agencies, which they did not. Moreover he is facing several health problems, as he is not able to do heavy work and is suffering from insomnia as his body aches during night.   
Shabir is now a member of People Rights Movement (party of ex militants) as he wants to fight for his rights by remaining above ground and by becoming full time political worker. 
“But after giving up arms today I feel that violence is not the answer, I don’t want my children to suffer the way we have. I am hopeful that forming of this organization (People’s Right Movement) will be solution to most of our problems”, he concludes.  
             80-YEAR-OLD TORTURED
      PULWAMA VILLAGERS PROTEST FORCED LABOUR BY ARMY
June 10: The alleged torture of an 80-year-old villager of Abhama hamlet of Pulwama on June10 triggered massive protests with the villagers demanding action against the erring troopers and urged the state government to intervene in stopping forced labour in the area. Army denies the accusations but police says it has taken cognizance.
The 80-year-old Ghulam Muhammad Najar was allegedly thrashed by troops in the morning and has been admitted to district hospital Pulwama after doctors at the sub-district hospital Keller suggested him clinical check up. 
 	Najar’s grandson, Javaid Ahmad Najar told media that a patrol of 44 Rashtriya Rifles based at Nittin Dajan camp dropped at his residence at 5.40 A.M on June 10. 
“The troops inquired about my grandfather Ghulam Muhammad Najar and my younger brother Sajad went to inform him and in the meanwhile the troops beat my brother,” said Javaid.
“This behaviour of troops was resented by our grandfather after which the troops severely thrashed him and the inmates, including Shaheena and Raja. My grandfather fell on the ground and was rushed to hospital,” he said.
 Javaid alleged that their family was being taken by the troops for forced labour to work in the camp. He said that the troops could have further roughed up others but the timely intervention of the neighbours save them.
With election due scheduled in September this year (2008), MLA Rajpora Syed Bashir Ahmad after visiting the hospital rushed to Abhama village where he addressed the protestors and warned the troops to refrain from human rights violations. 
He demanded inquiry into the incident and asked troops to stop the forced labour in the area. He informed the protestors that the commanding officer of RR has assured him a probe into the incident.
A spokesman of 44 RR denied the allegations of thrashing the villager. “All we know about Abhama village is that the MLA was scheduled to visit the area,” the spokesman said.
Additional SP Pulwama and Shopian Abdul Qayoom Thakoo told media that some uniformed men visited the house of a carpenter on June 10 in the village where the inmates told them that he is not available at his home. 
However, the SP said on knowing about his presence in the house a scuffle between inmates and troops took place and the aged carpenter was taken between the scuffle who has been hospitalized. The additional SP said that police have taken cognizance of the incident.
YOUTH DETAINED DURING SOCCER MATCH RECOUNT ‘INHUMAN’ TORTURE AT HANDS OF POLICE
June 19: The soccer fans who were detained while watching the final match in the recently held Santosh Trophy in the state find hard to come to terms with life after their release. The police had arrested many youth on the charges of creating law and order problem by rising pro-freedom, pro-Pakistan and anti India slogans during the match, but the youth have a different story to tell.
"There was a lot of excitement among the spectators who were cheering for their favourite teams till pro-Khalistan and anti –Muslim slogans were shouted by the supporters of the Punjab team provoking the people present in the gallery to raise pro-freedom, anti-India slogans," recalls Umar Bhat. He said that the as soon as the match was over the policemen arrested around 20 youth on the exit gates and whisked them to Shergari Police station where they were “brutally” tortured.” Taking you to the court is just a formality. We’ll kill all of you in a fake encounter,” constable Gulzar, according to the youth had told them before pushing them into a police van. The scars of police torture are fresh on the minds and body of the soccer fans, who claim that they were arrested for a crime, which they never committed.
“As soon as I stepped out of the stadium gate, three policemen pounced on me before taking me to the Shergari police station,” Bhat says, adding, "We were given electric shocks and were beaten with the bamboo sticks.” He said that a constable namely Gulzar Ahmad also threatened the youth to kill them in a fake encounter while they were being produced before the court in a police van.
"Police told us that they will produce us before the court, but when we reached near exhibition crossing, the van took left turn and constable Gulzar repeatedly threatened to kill all of us in a fake encounter," Bhat recalls.” At one time we lost all hopes of our survival," he adds. 
He said that the youth raised the issue of torture before the court, which passed an order to SHO Shergari to investigate the case of torture and harassment of the arrested youth. Another youth who was arrested on the same charges told media on the condition of anonymity that he entered the stadium when the first half was over. He said that trouble started when some spectators including the paramilitary CRPF troops started raising pro-Khalistan and anti –Muslim slogans thus triggering a sloganeering war. 
"When I came out of the gate no 8, constable Gulzar billa along with some cops in civvies stopped me and dragged me inside the paramilitary CRPF bunker. They beat me with bamboo sticks and gun butts before taking me to the Shergari Police Station," he said, adding the arrested youth were innocent and implicated on fake charges to please the Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad.
"Why didn't they arrest the people who were raising slogans for Punjab team? If the police have the video footage, why don't they produce it before the court of law," he said. He added that the arrested youth were abused and severely thrashed by the policemen inside and outside the police station. He added that the cops also threatened to kill them in a fake encounter for raising pro-freedom and anti India slogans, which they never shouted. 
According to the detained youth, around 10 persons were arrested for ‘creating disturbance’ during the match, three of whom were let off while the other seven were detained for almost three days. Chief minister Ghulam Nabi Azad, Union Minister of Information and Broadcasting and president of All India Football Federation (AIFF) Priya Ranjan Dasmunshi, minister for sports Haji Nissar Ali and other dignitaries including senior bureaucrats and police officials were witnessing the finals when the trouble began. 

              
 RAPES AND MOLESTATIONS BY INDIAN TROOPS
BANDIPORE VILLAGE ON BOIL
Villagers Allege Molestation by Army men
June 8: The entire village of Chitaybanday, Argam in this north Kashmir district was on roads on June 7 demanding stern action against erring troopers in civvies who were accused of molestation of women by the villagers. Army has denied the allegations.
The villagers alleged that at around 10 PM, some army men in civvies and masquerading themselves as militants barged into the house of Ghulam Muhammad Wani of Syeer Mohalla in Chitaybanday and attempted to molest his wife. She, according to villagers, raised hue and cry to attract the attention of her neighbours.  “The army men fearing mob fury fled from the spot,” said a villager pleading anonymity.
The angry villagers later took to streets and shouted anti-India and anti-army slogans. A protest march by villagers culminated at Argam police station where they demanded action against the erring troops.
Army denied the charge, saying that some militant were hiding in the area and the army was looking for the militants. “The militants managed to escape in the din of the hue and cry raised by locals,” commanding officer of 23 Punjab claimed.
 He said that army men can’t move in civvies when they are on duty. “Any one caught in civvies will be punished severely,” he said. Additional Superintendent of Police, Bandipore, Zahid Malik said that police was investigating the case.
Meanwhile, the villagers again took to streets on June 8 and protested the harassment of the women. They shouted anti-army slogans and pelted stones on Army troops. They also demanded that the erring troopers be bought under book. “For the past four days army men barge into our houses during nights and harass our women. They unnecessarily do this in the name of searching for militants,” the locals alleged.  
On June 9 army constituted an investigation team to look into the alleged molestation of the women. 
CRPF MAN MOLESTS GIRL AT AIRPORT
June 9: Police has registered a case of attempt to rape against a Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) trooper who allegedly made a bid to rape a girl at the airport in Srinagar on June 8.
Civil aviation officials have taken serious note and have asked CRPF to take strict action against the guilty.CRPF has placed under suspension the trooper and initiated a departmental inquiry against him.
According to a police officer posted at airport a CRPF trooper Sudhakar Ravo of 29 Battallion CRPF attempted in Jet Light Airways on June 8.The trooper made the attempt when the employee was on the to a toilet from the departure terminal.
“As she was about to enter the toilet ,the trooper caught hold of her and attempted to rape her,” the police officer said.
The girl made hue and cry and she was rescued ,but till then CRPF  trooper had molested her. The trooper fled from the spot and the airport staff on duty held a protest demonstration, tried to ransack the CRPF camp inside the airport and demanded the arrest of the trooper.
“The employee tried to ransack the CRPF camp, but the timely intervention of police did not allow it to happen,” police officer said.” police stopped them and registered a case after the manager Jet light lodged a written complaint of attempt to rape against the trooper,” the police officer said.
Senior superintendent of police Budgam Syed Aashiq Hussain Bukhari confirmed it to media and said,” We have registered a case of attempt to rape against a trooper of 29 Battallion CRPF vide FIR number 274/2008 in police station Budgam,” he said and added,”investigation into the incident has been started.”
The matter was taken up with Burea of Civil Aviation (BCA) New Delhi on the evening of June 8 by the Director airport Srinagar.BCA in a letter to CRPF headquarters New Delhi asked strict action against the trooper.
A top CRPF official on the basis of anonymity told media,” the CRPF trooper has been suspended with immediate effect and sent to quarter guard, “ adding that,” There is was a lot of pressure from Delhi CRPF headquarters and departmental inquiry had also been initiated.”
COP ARRESTED FOR KIDNAPING GIRL
June 16: The police arrested a jawan of 9 IR battalion of J&K Police posted in Gool area, along with a kidnapped minor girl from forest area of Bani in district Kathua on June 16.Identified as Talib Hussain, resident of Dhar Dugnu village the accused is said to be posted in 9 IR battalion which is presently located in Gool area of Mahore.
He had come on leave at home. According to parents of the girl, Talib, resident of the same village, allegedly kidnapped their minor daughter Shahira Begum on May 31. 
Both Fazlu Din and Farzi Begum reported the matter to Billawar police next day but the police refused to register an FIR. Simply, police accepted a missing report as the case pertained to police personnel. They started search on their own for few days. Later, assisted by villagers they moved to the court and sought directions from there to register an FIR. Billawar police then registered a formal FIR on June 5. Senior police officials of the Range have yet to take cognizance of the matter. 
On June 16, Bani police on the receipt of information from locals raided a dhok in forest area and arrested the constable Talib Hussain and recovered the girl. Later, it was discovered that matter pertained to Billawar police and they contacted them. The police said that after kidnapping the girl, constable went to Delhi. From there he went to Basohli area and from there moved to Bani. At present he was residing in forest area near a village in Bani. The locals became suspicious of their activities and brought the matter to the notice of local police. Both were brought to Billawar.

BAIL APPLICATION OF COP ARRESTED IN RAPE CASE REJECTED
June 18: Court rejected the bail application of cop who was arrested for raping a minor in the Police quarters Gandhi Nagar. Duty Magistrate Jammu Archana Charka rejected the bail application of Constable Shabir case Ahmed arrested in a rape in the police quarters. 
Applicant Shabir Ahmed serving in the J&K Police Department in District Special Branch Jammu has filed this bail application in which it has been submitted that a false case has been registered against the applicant by Police Station Gandhi Nagar Jammu and has been arrested in the said case.
According to the applicant has unblemished service career and has been active in militants and anti-national activities has and been awarded so many times for his distinguished service. militants. On the other hand CPO MA Manhas appearing for the state has submitted that offence under section 363, 366-A, 342, 376 and 109 RPC is very grave and serious in nature and having so many medals in his career does not means that the accused has license to do such heinous offence. He added that the investigation is still going on and opposed the bail application of the accused at this stage. 
Duty Magistrate Archana Charka while considering the bail application and report of the police said that on June 1, 2008, victim has lodged a report with Police Station Gandhi Nagar Jammu that she is a student and was going to school for getting certificate at Sunderbani in a bus. One person identified as Moulvi Ashraf met her with whom she came to Jammu and stayed in a hotel. Moulvi went away from the hotel. Ramesh and Shabir Ahmed took her to Gulshan Ground quarters (District Police Lines) where Shabir Ahmed committed rape upon her.


POLICE FILES FIR IN MINOR’S MOLESTATION BY SOLDIERS
June 19: Police on June 19 registered a case against three soldiers who allegedly molested a Gujjar girl in Nowgam village of Handwara on June 18.A senior police officer told media that an FIR (No. 92 u/s 354 RPC) was registered against the three soldiers of 161 bn Territorial Army who work with 30-Rashtriya Rifles.
The accused molested Shahzada (name changed) when she was grazing her cattle in the village. The trio, apparently in drunken condition, had been hiding in bushes. They tried to rape her but her resistance and cries caught the attention of her family members who rushed to the spot.
The family said some soldiers of 8 Raj Rifles who were on duty nearby also came to the spot. “Thus her chastity was saved,” they said. “Had we didn't reached at the spot, the beasts would have outraged the chastity of our daughter,” the family told media.
Meanwhile, the incident has evoked massive condemnation from the local residents.  The nomadic Gujjars have threatened to vacate their dhokas and return to their villages. “Now our daughters are not safe here because of terror unleashed by soldiers and the government gunmen. I have decided to vacate this place and take the women folk back,” an aged Gujjar said.
When contacted, Army's Srinagar-based spokesman Lt Col Mathur said that one of the accused troopers “is the relative of the girl.” He, however, denied the charges of molestation.
MEN BEATEN UP, WOMEN MOLESTED IN SHOPIAN
June 7: A magisterial inquiry has been ordered on June 7, by the Deputy Commissioner, Shopian into the alleged dishonouring of women in and beating of men by the CRPF and SOG during a cordon and search operation on June 6.
	The people had taken to streets and held demonstrations against the alleged atrocities of CRPF and SOG on June 6.police burst smoke shells and resorted to lathi-charge to disperse the demonstrators.
	Police is separately investigating the allegations leveled by the people and a case has been registered in this connection.
	Talking to media, Deputy Commissioner, Shopian M R Thokar confirmed that he has ordered a magisterial probe into the incident.
	He said,” I have ordered a magisterial probe into the incident and additional Deputy Commissioner will be heading the inquiry. About the allegations of misbehaviour and molestation of villagers, DC maintained that everything will come to light after the probe.”
	Giving details, the villagers said, the paramilitary troopers of CRPF 66 Battalion and the cops of SOG cordoned off this village on June 6.The cops ordered the men to come out and assemble in the local middle school for identification parade. The women were ordered to stay at their homes.
As the residents were coming out to assemble, the SOG and CRPF cops started beating them on way. A youth fainted, when hit by a gun butt on his head. This caused a lot of resentment among the people. When a woman objected to it, she was allegedly molested.
	Ahmad Nazir, a resident said,” Without asking any thing they beat us up with gun butts and sticks.” He said that the troops were trying to molest the women and women informed the men about the misbehaviour.
	“The women informed us on mobile telephone and we broke the cordon and rushed to our homes,” Ahmad said.
	Another resident Ishfaq Ahmad said that after breaking the cordon troopers and SOG personnel broke another hell on them.” This was another dose of ruthless beating. This time children were not an exception.” Ishfaq said .Two people were injured and were identified as Muhammad Ayub Wagay and Bashir Ahmad Rather.He said that SOG and CRPF fled from the spot.
	As the news about the alleged misbehaviour spread, hundreds of people in adjoining villages rushed towards the affected area and held a strong protest demonstration against the government, SOG and CRPF. They reached Shopian town in a procession, where they held massive demonstrations. 
	The people assembled outside the Deputy Commissioner’s (DC’s) office in Shopian chanted slogans and demanding action.
	“We met DC and told him how they misbehaved with our women,” said Abdul Ghani who was one among the protestors. He said that DC ordered a magisterial probe and assured that in future such incidents would not take place.
174 INCLUDING CIVILIANS KILLED IN MILITANCYN INCIDENTS THIS YEAR
June 11: A total number of 174 persons were killed since January till the end of May this year in militancy related incidents across Jammu and Kashmir. Civilians are figuring on number two in statistics on killings compiled by the police.
	According to police statistics a total number of 97 militants were killed in gun battles with army and Para-military troops. Out of them 66 were non-locals militants while 31 were locals. The records add that a number of 34 militants were arrested across the state by police and troops.
Maximum killed militants, according to police records belong to Hizb-ul-Mujahideen (HM), followed by Lashkar-e--Toiba (LeT) and Jaish-e-Muhammad (JeM).HM according to police records lost its eight top commanders in gun battles and faced the arrest of public face Junaid-ul-Islam, who was arrested by Handwara police in Karanagar in April.
In the statistics, civilian killings stand at number two with a number of 41. The civilian killings include eight children. Fifty-three civilians were injured during gun battles and blasts and 47 civilians were arrested for questioning by troops. Records claim that 33 out of them were released after questioning.
Army, Para-military troopers and police lost 36 men in various militancy related incidents during the period.It include six policemen and one Army colonel.
Police records maintain that there were 14 bomb blasts across Jammu and Kashmir and in gun battles between Security forces and militants 18 residential houses were completely damaged and 24 were partially damaged.
During the last five months there were two molestation attempts by troops. Police records said, there was one attempt by Rashtriya rifles troopers in Rajouri district of Jammu division and other in Chandigam village of Lolab area in district Kupwara.
The police statistics said that there were 14 suicides in Army, and nine in CRPF.

KELLAR RESIDENTS PROTEST AGAINST TROOPERS
June 10: The residents of Kellar, Pulwama on June 10 took to roads to protest against the thrashing up of four persons including an elderly couple.  
	According to a local news agency, locals of Ibhama, Kellar alleged that 4 Rashtriya Rifles personnel have let loose a reign of terror in the village. They said that RR personnel barged into the house of one Ghulam Ahmad Najjar and brutally thrashed his elderly wife
	 “When Najjar resisted, he too was beaten to pulp by the soldiers,” said the residents. They further said that the soldiers also barged into the house of Ghulam Rasool Najar and Abdul Aziz Najar and ordered them to accompany them to the camp. “When the duo refused, they were beaten ruthlessly by the soldiers,” said the residents.
	To protest against the highhandedness and beating up of civilians by the soldiers, the residents of the village took to roads on June 10. Raising anti-India, anti-forces and pro-freedom slogans, the protestors demanded that action should be taken against the soldiers for letting loose a reign of terror in the village. They also demanded shifting of the force camp from the village.
	MLA Rajpora Syed Bashir Ahmad and top police and civil officials reached the spot and assured the protestors that they would take the issue with the concerned authorities. After their assurances, the protestors dispersed off peacefully.
COPS ‘ASSAULT’ YOUTH
POLICE SAYS HE IS STONE PELTING GROUP’S RING LEADER
June 06: Policemen of Police Station Nowhatta on the night of June 3 stopped just short of opening fire at a 25-year-old resident of old city Abid Bhat, eyewitnesses said on June 6.
	The neighbours of Bhat, a resident of Habba Kadal locality of old city accused police of harassing the youth and his family for the past one week on the pretext of being involved in stone pelting at Nowhatta.
	Bhat’s neighbours pleading anonymity for obvious reasons said, on the night of June 3 policemen of Police Station Nowhatta were about to open fire at him when we came to his rescue.
	One of Abid’s neighbours said that the policemen threatened him that 40 agencies were planning to kill him. According to the locals, the policemen thrashed Bhat severely.
	Talking to media, Bhat said, “They also harassed my sisters.”
	Bhat’s mother Saleema said: “My son was released on anticipatory bail yet the police personnel of Police Station Nowhatta are threatening him.” 
	However, Station Head Office, Police Station Nowhatta, Tariq said that three FIRs were filed against Bhat as he was involved in almost every stone pelting incident that took place in the vicinity of Nowhatta.
	“He is a ring leader of stone pelting group. We have strong evidences against him. Our investigations are on. We will book him under law,” said Tariq.
Tariq agreed that a police party was sent to Bhat’s residence on June 3.
	“We called him many times to appear in the police station but he never turned up and started to play hide and seek with police. So we were forced to send a police party. However none of our policemen harassed any of his family members,” said Tariq.
KASHMIRI ACTIVIST SHOT AT IN JOHANNESBURG
June 01: Salman Khan, a human rights activist for Kashmir struggle in South Africa was fired upon on May 30 by unidentified gunmen. Three unidentified hit men shot the founder and chairman of South Africa Kashmir Action Group (SAKAG). It happened as he drove to his bottling manufacturing plant just before Friday prayers at 12:40 pm on May 30.
Three gunmen followed Khan’s car and assaulted on it to unlock the door that was electronically locked. As they failed to open the door, two of them opened fire with 9mm pistols from both front windows on him.
Salman Khan was critically injured. A bullet hit his face and eye, damaging the retina, which resulted in loss of vision in his right eye. The attackers escaped the scene-leaving Khan bleeding. Salman Khan is recovering in a hospital and waiting for an eye operation on June 6.
Salman Khan founded the SAKAG in 1999 and has led many rallies and marches in front of Indian Embassy there in South Africa. He also organized and led a march to Bollywood show 2006 at Gallagher Estate and also a protest at Union Building Pretoria at the arrival of Manmohan Singh in 2007.
Last year (2007) he also organized a high power conference "Kashmir Peace Conference" in Johannesburg, South Africa which was attended by ANC, Cosatu, SAPC, SACC, NGOs, Civil society and observer panel of mainstream media. Salman was also approached by Indian embassy officials in South Africa to persuade him to curtail his activities, but he ignored all.
PROTESTS IN DODA AFTER ‘CUSTODIAL DEATH’
DC Orders Magisterial Inquiry, Assures Action
June 7: Thousands of people including women and children staged protest demonstrations against alleged custodial death of a villager in Doda, forcing district administration to order a magisterial inquiry into the killing. However police said that the villager slipped from a hillock, while district administration has appointed ADC Doda as inquiry officer to ascertain the facts.
Thousands of people staged protests out-side the district hospital following the death of Latif Ahmad son of Ghulam Mustafa of 	, who was picked by a team of special operation group (SOG) of JK Police from his village. Family members of the deceased said Latif was innocent and had no links with any militant organization
“A group of SOG picked up Altaf on June 6 for questioning in the police station and said he will be freed next morning,” said one of the relatives of the deceased, adding he was later killed in custody. Police said the youth “slipped from a hillock and fell unconscious. He was immediately shifted to district hospital where the doctors declared him brought dead.”
As the news spread, thousands of people assembled outside the hospital and raised anti-police slogans and alleged the youth was killed in custody. The protestors were demanding a high level inquiry into the killing and punishment to the police personnel responsible for the death. The villagers allege that Latif was interrogated and later pushed from a hill-lock in the morning to show that he slipped to death.
“He was innocent and was killed in custody and we demand suspension of the SP along with whole team,” a protester said.
“Chief Minister Azad as the home minister of the state should immediately order termination of the services of the accused policemen who killed the innocent youth,” said another villager.
Sources said the youth was interrogated for the whole night. “He was killed in custody,” they said. Police however, said that the villager was brought to the village-sustained interrogation for some recovery and he slipped.
District magistrate Doda, Khurshid Ahmad Bhat, said a magisterial inquiry has been ordered and ADC Doda, Farooq Ahmad Khan, has been appointed as inquiry officer and asked to submit the report. He said a team of doctors was constituted which conducted postmortem of the deceased to ascertain the cause of death.
TROOPERS ‘SNATCH’ SUMO, DAMAGE IT
DRIVER’S STAGE PROTEST DEMAND COMPENSATION
June 16: Accusing Army of damaging a Tata Sumo after snatching it on gunpoint, scores of drivers on June 16 staged a massive protest on Srinagar-Muzaffarabad road demanding that erring troopers be punished and they be compensated.    
According to the eyewitnesses sumo drivers placed the damaged vehicle in middle of the road at Pattan in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district on June 16 and staged a sit-in. “Soldiers of Seari camp on gun point took away a Tata sumo (No. JK05-9336) of Muhammad Ashraf Rasri son of Ghulam Muhammad Rasri of Pattan on Saturday afternoon. They brought the Sumo back on June 16 in a damaged condition,” the protesters said, adding, “Before leaving they told us to get the vehicle repaired on our own without raising any hue and cry.” 
The protesters said that the Sumo drivers operating in Pattan area are facing “immense hardships” as troopers posted in the area quite often take away their vehicles ‘forcibly.’ "They don’t pay single penny as fare to us and at times put our lives at stake by taking us along on operations,’ the protesters said.  
The protesters were demanding reimbursement of damages and end to practice of ‘forcibly’ taking away vehicles by troopers in area. As protesters blocked the busy highway police and army officials reached the spot and assured them that action would be taken against erring troopers and the top army officials will be informed about the vehicles being taken away ‘forcibly.’ After the assurances from police and army officials that they would be reimbursed protesters dispersed and normalcy was restored in the area.  
However, Army’s Srinagar based spokesman Lt Col A K Mathur denied the accusation. “Troopers don’t snatch vehicles. These allegations are baseless,” Mathur, said, “We’ve amicably sorted out the issue with drivers and protests were over within half an hour.”
SCHOOL CHILDREN ‘BEATEN’ IN SHOPIAN
MASSIVE PROTESTS AGAINST CRPF, SOG; PROBE ORDERED
June 6: Massive demonstrations and dingdong battles between police and people of Narpora hamlet rocked Shopian in south Kashmir on June 6.The protestors were demanding stern action against the paramilitary forces and SOG men who they said were responsible for merciless thrashing of villagers including children during a search operation on June 6. District administration has ordered magisterial inquiry to probe the complaints.
Reports said that troops of 166 BN CRPF and SOG Shopian cordoned Narpora village in wee hours of June 6. During the house-to-house searches the uniformed men allegedly used brutal forces against the people including children and girls.
“Troops asked school children to show identity cards and those without them were given a severe thrashing,” said the villagers adding they were forced to break the cordon and march towards Shopian after troops mercilessly beat even elders. Among them, Muhammad Ayub Wagay has been injured seriously.
On reaching Shopian, the demonstrators forced the shopkeepers to down their shutters. They also stopped private and commercial traffic to enforce strike in the town. The demonstrators reached near the office of deputy commissioner and pelted stones on the complex. Some people lifted the signboard of the complex. 
However, police arrived on the spot and used tear smoke shells and gunshots to control the situation. One Bashir Ahmad Rather was injured during the violent clashes in the town. Police arrested three persons among the protestors.
Additional Superintendent of Police, Pulwama and Shopian, Abdul Qayoom said the allegations of mass torture of villagers during search operation were baseless. He said the CRPF men asked a youth to accompany them for house-to-house search who on way resorted to argument with the troops on which CRPF personnel slapped him. At this the villagers got furious, the SP added. He further said the people who preferred violence turned down assurances by DC Shopian to depute Additional DC and SHO for inquiry. “Minor lathi charge was used to defuse the tension during which no one was injured or arrested,” he claimed. 
When contacted, Deputy Commissioner Shopian, Muhammad Ramzan Thakur, told media that a magisterial inquiry has been ordered to ascertain the complaints of torture leveled by villagers at Narpora. He said additional deputy commissioner Shopian, Muhammad Yousuf Zargar, has been asked to submit report within 10 days after which the accused whosoever shall be dealt with as per law.
RAZOR WIRE CAUSES INCONVENIENCE TO PEDESTRIANS
June 5: The razor wire erected recently around the police post in the busy bus stand in Islamabad, besides causing inconvenience to the pedestrians has also hit the business activities. The barbed wires have left little space for the pedestrians and even for the public vehicles.
Last week, a college girl was severely injured when her dupata (scarf) got stuck in the barbed wire. Her scarf was torn into pieces in a bid to free it. The scene agitated the onlookers who, however, could do nothing except for offering a new scarf to the girl,” a witness told media”.  Though the post is not too big still the police have erected huge barricades in the area. “It is like walking on a razors edge while passing through a barbed wire”, said Idrees, a shopkeeper. The business of the shopkeepers in the building where the police post is also housed has received a serious jolt since the police erected the barricades.
“Two weeks before when there were no barricades, there used to be a huge rush of customers, but now hardly any one visits my shop to make a phone call”, said a PCO owner.
Another shopkeeper while pleading anonymity said, “The customers can’t even park a vehicle here, so they avoid visiting to our shops.” “Though we apprised the officials about this but to no avail,” he added.    
Senior Superintendent Police Nitesh Kumar said that he would look into the matter. SHO, Islamabad, Bashir Ahmad also assured of considering the grievances of the people.
BSF OFFICIALS ‘FRAME’ ITS OWN MAN IN KASHMIR
Minorities Commission Summons Officials
June 16: The National Commission for Minorities has summoned the BSF authorities from Jammu and Kashmir on the complaints of a sub-inspector who had accused his senior bosses of framing him on false charges.
The sub-inspector, Syed Basit Ali, was deployed in the anti-insurgency operation in Badgam district and had earned praise of his seniors, who had even recommended his name for a gallantry award about eight years ago.
 However, later he was charge sheeted by the authorities on the grounds that he seized an AK-47 rifle during operations against militants but did not deposit it with appropriate authorities.
 Basit Ali in his complaint to the Commission has said his officers were trying to frame him, as he was in the know of various irregularities committed by them, officials of the NCM told UNI here. The sub-inspector has also in his representation claimed that his officers used to take the credit for arms seized by him during the anti-insurgency operations.
 The NCM officials said they decided to summon the BSF officials after they discovered a lot of discrepancies in their charge sheet against Basit Ali.
 Moreover, under Rule 46 of the Record of Evidence of the BSF, the unit in which the accused was posted, would not be given the case against him, but, now Basit Ali’s own unit has been handed over his case.
 ‘’In view of all this the Commission has decided to summon BSF authorities on June 26,’’ the officials said.  

ARMY INDICTED IN MURDER OF 3 CIVILIANS IN DODA
CUSTODIAL KILLING
June 5: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) on June 4 indicted Army for custodial killing of three persons and torture of 13 others in Doda district in 2000, directing the police to initiate criminal proceedings against the accused.
 The Commission described the killings as “trampling of the Constitution” and directed the government to pass abiding instructions to the troops and police to respect human rights of citizens while discharging their duties. 
 	The Commission had received a complaint that the troops of Army’s 5 Sikh Light Infantry called inhabitants of different villages of Doda to their camp at Gandoh and allegedly killed three persons and brutally tortured 13 others in custody on January 22, 2000. The killings had triggered violent protests against the Army forcing the district administration to order a probe by sub-district magistrate (SDM) Bhaderwah.
“The three persons (Muhammad Amin, Abdul Majeed and Abdul Rasheed of Tenbdla tehsil Gandoh) were called along with other people to Gandoh and mercilessly beaten by Army men headed by DN Gupta, 2 IC 5 Sikh Light Infantry, Major Ranjan Mahajan and Captain Vineet. Later they were killed by the Army personnel as alleged and 13 poor civilians injured,” the SDM stated in his inquiry report. 
Referring to the report, the chairperson of the SHRC, Habib-Ullah Bhat in his judgment observed “the position of the case speaks volumes about the exceptionally gross human rights violations by 5 Sikh Light Infantry.” 
“The law of the land has been crudely subjected to contempt. The wrong does appear to have run berserk and ruthless regardless of human rights. The constitution of the country has been trampled down under a hefty foot. The article first of the Human Rights Declaration 1948 appears to have been torn out and the international convents enshrined for the dignity of an individual have been punctuated and the State’s Protection of the Human Rights Act 1997 has been blown to ashes,” it added.  
 	Coming down heavily on district administration, the chairperson stated “the district magistrate after receiving the (SDM’s) report, had not taken any step for bringing the violators of law before the fountain of justice. This Commission is therefore shocked to find that for the last eights years the axe of accountability is still hanging in air and has not fallen on the wrong doers.” 
 The Commission disposed off the case with recommendation to the Government to circulate abiding instructions among all the security agencies and police that they should adhere to honor the dignity of the citizens and protect their rights while discharging their duties. 
It directed the police to finalize the formalities in the murder so that the lawbreakers should be put to trial. The Commission recommended relief of two lakh rupees to the deceased and Rs 75,000 each to the 13 injured civilians.
PANEL FOR LAND CASES WITH ARMY
June 17: A committee of senior officers, army and the ministry of defence, headed by chief secretary, S. S. Kapur, would address all pending land issues between the state government and the army in Jammu and Kashmir. Decision to the effect was taken at a meeting between the defence minister, A K Antony and the chief minister, Azad.  
 The meeting took up pending cases of vacation of land by the army and decided to constitute a committee of senior officers of the state government, army and the ministry of defence to address these cases. The defence minister said his ministry would take positive action on the cases pending for years.
EMPLOYMENT FOR NEXT OF KIN OF CHILDREN KILLED IN WULLAR TRAGEDY
June 11: Jammu and Kashmir government has provided employment to one member of each family who lost their children in Wullar tragedy on May 30,2006 in north Kashmir.  
 An official spokesman said the Deputy Commissioner, Kupwara, Kachoo Isfandyar Khan handed over appointment orders to eleven such beneficiaries. Twenty-one school children and a teacher died after the naval boat carrying them capsized. About 100 children along with their teachers had gone on a picnic to Wullar Lake.  
‘RTI ACT PARTISAN ON HR ABUSES IN KASHMIR’
June 15: Any information sought on human rights violation in Kashmir under Right to Information Act is kept as a ‘state secret’ and there is no provision to obtain it under the act, says New Delhi-based human rights lawyer from New Delhi. 
 Terming Right to Information Act as a “cruel joke” with Kashmiris, Vrinda Grover said, “In other parts of India, people can seek information regarding HR violations under RTI, but for Kashmir no such provision has been kept. Those points which were good in the RTI have been intentionally left out.” 
  Grover said that unless RTI gives access to the HR violations and disappearances in Kashmir, “it is a cruel joke with the people of Kashmir.” She also advised the relatives of the victims of Enforced Disappearances to file the cases against Army and other security agencies in the courts. 
 “You should file the cases against Army and other security agencies in the courts that have subjected your relatives to Enforced Disappearances. Document the cases properly,” she said, adding, “To build pressure on India in international forums, systematic approach is needed and proper documentation of disappeared persons is a must.” She alleged that there is rule of Army in the state, but Government of India is projecting rosy picture in international forums. “We have to expose them.”
 Grover said New Delhi is neither ratifying International Convention against Torture nor International Convention against Disappearances. “India is signatory to both the conventions, but doesn’t want to ratify, as its HR record is very poor in North East and Kashmir. India signed International Convention against Torture 11 years back, but is yet to ratify it, which shows that they aren’t sincere. There is pressure building on India now and we have to make sure that we portray the real picture.”
 “On April 10, 2008 during Human Rights Council in Geneva, 42 nations grilled Indian representative on its poor HR record. India signed International Convention against Enforced Disappearances in February 2007, but didn’t ratify that yet. The representatives of other countries asked India about the delay,” she revealed. 
 The HR lawyer also suggested the victims to take compensation from the government. “You should know that there is difference between compensation and ex-gratia. Compensation is your right and if state has subjected your dear ones to Enforced Disappearances, they have to compensate for it. If you take compensation, that won’t weaken your case for prosecution of the guilty,” Grover told the victims. 
FROM PROSPERITY TO PENURY
MIRZA FAMILY HAS NO MONEY FOR LAWYERS TO DEFEND IMPRISONED DUO
June 10: The family members of two Kashmiri businessmen who were arrested by Delhi police for their alleged involvement in Lajpat Nagar blast in 1996 have accused the police authorities of falsely framing the duo. The duo, Iftikar Hussain and Nissar Ahmad are languishing in New Delhi’s Tihar jail for past 12 years and police have failed to prove any charge against them, said sister of the duo, Rohi Jan.
 “My brothers are innocent. Delhi police framed them because they are Kashmiris. The local police of Kashmir also wrote to their counterparts in Delhi that Iftikar and Nissar were not involved in any anti-state activity but they were not released,” said Rohi. Iftikar and Nissar who had taken to shawl business after their father’s death in 1995 were arrested by Delhi police several days after the blast, said Rohi. 
 “My elder brother (Iftikar) who was 22 at the time of arrest was picked up by police for questioning from old Delhi and Nissar who was a minor at the time of arrest was detained by police in Kathmandu where he had accompanied our business partner in connection with some business,” said Rohi. She said when they heard about the news of the arrest, the family members rushed to Delhi. 
 “We were assured by the police and the authorities that my brothers would be released in few days and were detained only for some questioning. But later they were shifted to Tihar jail and charged with being involved in the blast,” Rohi said.  During the early days the family hired few lawyers for pleading the case of the duo. 
 “We would regularly travel to Delhi and visit the jail to meet our brothers. But after sometime our economic condition deteriorated as there was nobody to look after the business in Delhi. The police in Delhi sealed our shop and we couldn’t afford the money to hire the lawyers and visit Delhi to meet our brothers. We have not seen our brothers for past five years,” said Rohi Jan.
 There was a time when the family would spend every winter in Delhi’s posh area, but today the family including an aged mother has not enough money to meet Iftikar and Nissar who are languishing in the Tihar. 
 “My mother developed severe aliment after the arrest of Iftikar and Nissar. She is yearning to see them in her lifetime but we have not enough money to visit Delhi,” Rohi said.
 The needs of this once prosperous Mirza family are taken care off by Zaffar Hussain, third son of Mir Mirza Ali Muhammad. Zaffar is working as a teacher in a private school. He also takes tuitions after the school hours to fulfill the family needs, said Rohi.
EX-GRATIA SOUGHT FOR VIOLATION OF FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS
June 11: The parents of a petitioner, Shado Bano, stated to have been killed by suspected militants, seeking ex-gratia relief as per a government order and claiming Rs 10 lakh for violation of the fundamental rights, Justice JP Singh of J&K High Court Jammu Wing directed the respondents to examine the petitioner’s case in terms of the government order No 723-CR (GAD) of 1990, dated July 30, 1990.
 The court also directed to look for any other order issued by the government in this behalf governing grant of ex-gratia relief to whose who had suffered as a result of violence attributable to the breach of law and order and pass appropriate orders under law as to the entitlement or otherwise of the petitioner to be grant of ex-gratia relief within a period of two months.
 The direction has been passed in a petition filed by Shado Bano through advocate, A M Malik, in which it has been alleged that parents of the petitioner alleged to have been killed by a militant.
 In the petition it has been further stated that FIR NO 158/02 registered at P/S Mahore u/s 302/120-B/121/123 RPC r/w section 7/25, 26/27 of Arms Act had not been properly investigated by the concerned investigating officer, who had erroneously shown the father of the petitioner, deceased Jamal Din to be an associate of militants. According to the petitioner, there was sufficient evidence on records to demonstrate that the father of the petitioner had become victim of breach of law and order had succeeded in eliminating him and his wife.
FAKE ENCOUNTER CASE, WITNESS RETRACTS STATEMENT
DECLARE HIM HOSTILE: PROSECUTORS
June 12: An SPO Farooq Ahmed Chowdhry, a witness in the Abdul Rehman Padder fake encounter case retracted from his earlier statement before the Sessions Court on June 10.The prosecutors demanded to declare the witness hostile, which was objected by the defence counsels.
The SPO Farooq Ahmed son of Muhammad Sharif of Mendhar Ponch who was part of the operation in which Abdul Rehman Padder, a civilian was killed in fake encounter disclaimed that any civilian had been brought or killed in his presence at Sumbal Ganderbal two years back.
After listening to the witness, defence lawyers and the public prosecutor, the judge Hasnain Masoodi reserved the judgement on the issue and listed the case for June 26.
During police investigation, the SPO had stated that the civilian had been brought into an orchard in his presence and fired by constable Manzoor Ahmed at point blank. He also negated his earlier statement that a volley of bullets fired by another constable Zaheer Abbas mutilated the face of the body. 
The SPO denied his statement that he had brought the rope with which the victim’s hands were tied during the operation. The prosecutors grew impatient and tried to persuade the witness to reveal the exact details of the event he was witness to.
The witness said that a civilian clad in Feron had been brought in a Rakshak vehicle and taken away from the vehicle at 8 pm on December 8, 2006.
“I was guarding the site of the operation from a distance with an AK rifle. I heard gun shots but did not know the exact location of the firing,” he said.
He said as the body was brought near the road, the police officials involved in the operation claimed it to be of a militant. Earlier, Kathwari argued for declaring witness Manzoor Ahmed Rather of Kangan as hostile. Rather had told police that he had been directed to carry a bag containing a revolver and a hand grenade. The bag was later put near Padder’s body. 
On May 23, proceeding of the Court, the SPO had stated before the court that a bag was handed over to him but he did not know its contents and usage. The defending counsels Mushtaq Ahmed Dar, Rakesh Khajuria and others cited the Supreme Court rulings saying a mere deviation of the statement can not make a witness hostile.
CRIPPLED MUSICIAN’S KILLERS STILL AT LARGE
FAMILY SEEKS PUNISHMENT FOR ACCUSED CRPF TROOPERS
June 30: Despite passing of two years, the CRPF troopers who had shot dead a partially crippled musician, Inayat Bhat, at Munwarabad in the city, are yet to be punished. 
On Inayat’s second death anniversary, his family accused the state government of shielding the accused troops and demanded international interventional for justice. A graduate, Inayat suffered multiple fractures in his hip when he fell from third storey of his house three years ago. He was operated upon many times and was bedridden for nearly two years. Before the accident, he worked as an approved artist in Doordarshan and Radio Kashmir. 
The CRPF troopers stationed at Hotel Ikhwan without any provocation gunned down Inayat on this day. Though police had registered a murder case, however it could not initiate proceedings against the accused troops who are protected by Armed Forces Special Powers Act (APSPA). 
“The troops killed my son just for demanding Rs 15 for bread they had purchased from my shop. They are not soldiers but killers. Government is trying to hush up the case. Despite eyewitness accounts and confession statements of the accused CRPF soldiers, police has failed to get sanction from Indian government against the accused,” Innayat’s father Rehmatullah Bhat, a baker told media. 
“Police and government is equally responsible for my son’s murder as they are protecting the accused. It was only due to protests and public pressure that police arrested the soldiers. But later police went slow because the Indian government doesn’t want to punish its soldiers for it will demoralize their so-called soldiers in harassing and killing Kashmiris,” fumed Bhat. 
Bhat castigated the mainstream politicians who he said shed “crocodile tears” on his son’s killing. 
“These politicians had promised to recommend action against the troops. I can’t see the killers of my son roaming scot-free. I will fight to my last breath till I get justice,” he said. 
Inayat’s younger brother, Rais said he had filed a petition in the State Human Rights Commission. “But to no avail. I am eagerly awaiting for the day when my brother’s killers will be punished,” he said.
‘YATRA VEHICLE FIRST, AMBULANCES LATER’
Troops set Traffic ‘RULES’ on Srinagar-Sonmarg Highway
June 22: The Srinagar-Sonmarg route to Amarnath Cave is fraught with numerous hardships for the locals residing all along the road as troops have intensified frisking putting people to severe inconveniences. Businessmen, students, employees are unable to reach their destinations on time due to traffic jams along the highway due to the heavy rush of yatri vehicles from Hazratbal to Baltal.
“A pregnant woman was being carried to SKIMS Soura in a vehicle but was stopped by troops and disallowed to proceed until the yatri vehicle passed,” said Nasir Ahmad, a lecturer.” She could have died on way to hospital,” he said.

            EXPLOSIONS

¬ 2 INJURED IN GRENADE BLAST
June 4:Two people were injured when suspected militants hurled a grenade towards Para-military CRPF troopers in Shahr-e-Khas in Srinagar on June 4.
Reports said that Mubarak Shah resident of Rainawari and Waseem Pandit of HMT Zainakot were injured when a grenade was lobbed towards a CRPF party in Kawdara area of Shahr-e-Khas at 9:20 pm.
In a separate incident, suspected militants lobbed a grenade on Fire Service Headquarter in Srinagar at 6:30 pm. However, the device didn’t explode and was later diffused. 
Another grenade was hurled towards Kangan police station in Ganderbal district late in the evening. However, no report of causality has been reported. Reports said that police cordoned off the area after the blast.
¬ GRENADE ATTACK ON CABLE OPERATOR  
June 8: Unidentified persons hurled a grenade on the house a cable operator, Lateef Ahmad, s/o Manzoor Ahmad at Iqabalabad, Warpora, and Sopur on June 7. The grenade missed the intended target and exploded outside the building, a police communiqué said. No one was wounded in the explosion, the police said. In another incident, Army averted a major tragedy when they destroyed two live Bofors fuses in South Kashmir. As the people were busy in their normal work at village Nowgam, two live fuses were detected in the area. All those present were immediately shifted to safer places and Bomb Disposal Squad (BDS) was informed. Later, both the fuses were destroyed without causing any damage. The fuses had remained unexploded during the devastating fire in the ammunition depot at Khandroo in August 2007.
¬ GRENADE WOUNDS 12 CIVILIANS IN VARMUL  
June 13: Unidentified persons threw a grenade on June 13 at a crowded marketplace in Varmul town wounding at least 12 people. 
The grenade was aimed at an Army vehicle parked in front of police station, police said. The blast led to panic in the town and people rushed for cover. Police sources identified 5 injured as Muhammad Maqbool Wani of Fathegarh, Bashir Ahmad Hajam of Pattan, 
Farooq Ahmed Tantary of Uri, Ghulam Muhammad Lone of Ushkara and Mustaq Ahmed of Sopur.
Grenade blasts rock Srinagar  
¬ CRPF TROOPER, 2 CIVILIANS HURT
June 14: In an apparent attack on Cinema halls, suspected militants on June 14 carried out a series of grenade attacks on Neelam and Firdous Cinemas, injuring a trooper and two civilians.   
In the first attack, a rifle grenade was fired on CRPF picket near Neelam cinema in Shaheed Gunj area around 12 PM. Police said a CRPF head constable, identified as Maipal Singh, and a woman, Salima, wife of Ghulam Mehdi from Bemina and an ice cream vendor were injured in the attack. The injured were rushed to hospital for treatment, police said. 
 Two more grenades were hurled towards CRPF pickets in Shehr-e-Khaas here, four hours after the first attack. One grenade was lobbed towards the Firdous cinema, housing a battalion of CRPF, in Hawal area while the second fell before a CRPF picket in Lal Bazaar area. However, no causality was reported in the incident.
¬ BOY WOUNDED IN EXPLOSION
June 15: A seven-year-old boy was wounded when an explosives substance he was fiddling with went off at Manzgam Damhal Hanjipora Kulgam. The wounded has been identified as Murtaza Nazir Laway son of Nazir Ahmad of Manzgam.
¬ POWERFUL IED DEFUSED IN DODA
June 16: Army claimed to have averted a major tragedy when it detected and defused a powerful 10 kg weight Improvised Explosive Device (IED), filled with RDX, on Doda-Arnora road.
Defence PRO Jammu Lt Col S D Goswami said a Road Opening Party (ROP) of 8 Rashtriya Rifles (Madras) under the aegis of 4 Sector Delta Force observed an IED lying between Doda-Arnora road and immediately stopped traffic on either side of the road.
A Bomb Disposal Squad of Army Engineers was rushed to the spot, which safely defused the IED, Lt Col Goswami said, adding a major tragedy has been averted with timely detection of the explosive device.
¬ EXPLOSION IN CITY OUTSKIRTS  
June 17: A grenade explosion created panic near Foreshore road in city outskirts. According to eyewitness, an unidentified person traveling in a silver colour Maruti lobbed a grenade at the Foreshore Road on June 17. However, the device exploded without causing any damage. 
“A man traveling in a car threw the grenade in the canal that runs adjacent to the road and drove away,” the witnesses added. After the explosion paramilitary CRPF intensified the frisking in the area.
¬ MAN WOUNDED IN EXPLOSION
June 19:An unexploded shell went off in the house of Ghulam Mohiudin Malik, scrap collector at Shuglipora in Budgam.Malik was critically wounded, the unexploded shell was collected by him from Tosha Maidan area where the security forces are conducting daily practice. In another incident, Muhammad Asgar son of Muhammad Yousuf of Chagroo area in Mahore was wounded in an explosion on June 18.According to police, Muhammad Asgar was carrying a detonator in his matchbox and was accompanying a marriage party from Shajroo to Masrote. On reaching Chareel, he tried to ignite a cigarette due to which the detonator exploded in his hand causing injuries to him.
¬ GRENADE ATTACK ON CABLE OPERATOR  
June 26: Unidentified persons lobbed a grenade on the residence of a cable operator at Mohalla Gilgat Sopur in Varmul district, which caused minor damage to the house.
According to police spokesman, the cable operator has been identified as Ashiq Hussain Khan. No loss of life or injury was reported in the incident, the police said. Police has registered a case in this regard.
REPORTED DISAPPEARANCES
¬ YOUTH GO MISSING
June 19: According to Police Irshad Hussain Sheikh, 23, son of Ghulam Hussain, resident of Gandoh Doda at present Vidhartha Nagar Bathindi went missing since June 16, 2008 from his home. Since then his whereabouts are not known.
¬ YOUTH GO MISSING
June 5:A youth identified as Zaffer Hussain 14,son of Mohi-ud-Din, resident of Kashtigarh Tehsil Doda was reportedly missing since May 29,2008
¬ EIDGAH MAN MISSING SINCE PROTESTS ERUPTED  
June 28: Nazir Ahmed Katoo, a resident of Ganderpora Eidgah in Sheher-e-Khaas is missing since June 23, the day when protests erupted against the government allotment of forestland to Shri Amarnath Shrine Board (SASB). Katoo who worked as a band-saw driver at Eidgah, is father to three small children who study in primary standard. 
According to family sources, he had gone to Mehjoor Nagar on cycle to visit his mother in the afternoon of the fateful day. 
Family says he left saying that he had to collect some money from the market. The family has filed an FIR in Sekidafar police station but no progress has been reported.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS
¬ KASHMIR, A COMPLEX PROBLEM: VOHRA  
June 11: N N Vohra, the first bureaucrat to be appointed as the governor of Jammu and Kashmir in 18 years, has said Kashmir was a complex problem.
 “The tasks before us are tremendous. Kashmir is a complex problem and we have to deal with the legacy of 60 years, which has been left behind, at the administrative level or otherwise,” Vohra said in an interview.
¬ TROOPS STRESSED FIGHTING MILITANCY, HOSTILE CLIMATE: IG BSF  
        ‘WE ARE HIRING LOCAL PSYCHIATRISTS’
June 13: Inspector General BSF (Medical) R S Rathore on June 13 said that the paramilitary BSF personnel are stressed fighting militants and hostile climate near the Line of Control (LoC).
Talking to media, Rathore said, “It is not like that we only fight the militants. Our cadres on the LoC have to bear hostile climate for a long time that result in stress and strain.”
He said the State’s topography and political conditions have erupted psychogenic problems among the troops that at times culminate into suicide and fratricidal killings.
“Psychiatric problems do arise due to severe serving conditions. These are more among the troops deployed at the high altitude areas of Kashmir,” he said.
Rattled by the growing incidents of suicide and fratricide among its cadres, the paramilitary BSF are now roping local psychiatrists to help them devise a strategy to quell the disorder. There have been many incidences in the State in which troops committed suicide by firing at themselves with their service rifles or killed their colleagues or seniors. All such incidents were reported to be stress-related.
¬ NO COMPROMISE ON HR ISSUE: ANTONY
June 17: He claimed that there would be no compromise on the human rights issue referring to the human rights situation; Antony reiterated Prime Minister Dr Manmohan Singh's commitment to zero tolerance against human rights abuses. He said there would be no compromise on that. Antony stated that situation in the state has improved a lot and massive development activities were going on. He said the central government was fully assisting the state government in its agenda for development. 
Defence minister said peace and stability being prerequisite for development, the army and security forces were excellently performing their duties for maintaining peace. On the same function, Azad thanked the prime minister and the defence minister for increasing the rentals of the land and orchards under the use of the army in the state. He said the defence ministry accepted the recommendations of the state government on this issue in toto. 
Chief minister said this had benefited the people of the state, especially the orchardists and landowners. He said the State government would change the rules to allow disbursement of rentals twice a year instead of once in a year as at present. 
Azad said that the government and security agencies were observing in letter and spirit the prime minister's assurance of zero tolerance on human rights violations. He said there had been no case of custodial death or disappearance this year. He said while dealing with militants security forces were taking extra care to minimize collateral damage. 
Azad said that after the decision taken in the last meeting with the defence minister, the army and security forces vacated 186 government buildings and 92 private buildings. He said some buildings were still in the use of the army and would be vacated.
¬ DEMILITARIZATION IN JK IMPOSSIBLE, SAYS SINHA  
      Lashes Out At PDP, Praises Azad
June 15:The outgoing Governor of Jammu and Kashmir Lt Gen (Rtd) S K Sinha ruled out any possibility of demilitarization in Jammu and Kashmir.  
“There is no question of demilitarization in JK. Those who talk about demilitarization and raise such slogans actually don’t know what it means,” Sinha told a private news channel. Sinha said that demilitarization was not possible in the State, which has its borders with Pakistan and China. 
¬ WE WILL OPEN FIRE IF ATTACKED: CRPF  
        IGP SAYS VANDALISM WON’T BE TOLERATED  
June 28: Frustrated by the continuous protests and frequent attacks by the angry protesters, paramilitary CRPF on June 28 said that it will “open fire” if protesters come near their bunkers or try to snatch their weapons. 
Sounding tough Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir range, S M Sahai said that Police wouldn’t tolerate vandalism” anymore.
“Patience has a limit. Youth accused us and shouted anti-CRPF slogans in front of our bunkers, we did not react. When they tried to put out bunkers on fire and snatch weapons, we were forced to open fire resulting in the death of a few people,” said CRPF spokesman Parabhakar Tripathi. “We will open fire, if youth attack out bunker or try to snatch our weapons.” 
 IGP Kashmir, S M Sahai told media that policemen won’t watch as mute spectators and will not tolerate vandalism. “We were forced to resort to aerial firing and tear-gas-shelling on June 28 after one of our constables was attacked at Jehangir Chowk. He is battling for his life at SMHS hospital. We can’t see our men dying and our police stations being ransacked.”         
However, Sahai was to quick add, “Till protest remains peaceful, we have no problems.”
SUICIDES/MUTUAL KILLINGS BY TROOPS¬ JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE
June 1:A jawan allegedly committed suicide by consuming poison in the city. The jawan, Jawahir Singh, of 13 Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry consumed some poisonous substance at his home on May 31. He was taken to hospital, where he died on June 1.
¬ SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE  
June 6: A Soldier commits suicide by hanging himself to death in side a residential quarter at Malpur Akhnoor, on June 6. Informed sources told media that a soldier posted with 242-Medium regiment of Army was found hanged inside his residential quarter at Akhnoor, Jammu on June 6 at around 8.30 a.m. He was immediately shifted to MH hospital where doctors declare him as brought dead.
 The deceased solider has been identified as Lance Hawaldar Yashpal Singh son of Puran Singh resident of Mehandergarh Haryana. Police has registered a case and start investigation to ascertain the cause of suicide. Defence Spokesman Lt Col SD Goswami when contacted confirmed the incident and said Army has ordered court of inquiry.
¬ CRPF MAN COMMITS SUICIDE  
June 10: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) man committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon at Khan Sahib Camp in district Budgam. He has been identified as Constable of 89 Bn CRPF Lal Singh. Police have initiated proceedings Under Section 174 CrPC to ascertain the cause behind the suicide.  
¬ SPO COMMITS SUICIDE
June 12:A Special Police Officer (SPO) committed suicide in north Kashmir, official sources said. SPO Nazir Ahmad Dar consumed some poisonous substance in his Zengam, Lolab house. However, he died before he could be shifted to hospital.
¬ JAWAN SHOOTS HIMSELF TO DEATH 
June 13: An army jawan shot himself to death with his service weapon in the Reasi district.” The jawan, identified as Immanuel Hmar (31), of 59 Rashtriya Rifles died on the spot after he shot himself with his service rifle at his residential quarter at Deolmarg in Reasi," Defence Spokesperson Lt Col S D Goswami said. A Court of Inquiry has been ordered into the incident and a case has been registered at the Reasi Police Station, he added.
¬ BSF JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE
June 26: A Border Security Force Jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle in Kupwara district. Constable Abdul Hamid, posted in the 81st battalion, shot himself inside his room at a camp in Trehgam area of Kupwara district, official sources said. The jawan had performed his duty normally at the camp before the incident. The other guards rushed to his room and shifted him to hospital where he succumbed.
CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS  
June 1: An Army jawan allegedly committed suicide at his home in the city He was identified as Jawahir Singh, of 13 Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry
June 2: Police claimed to have killed four militants of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) during two different encounters. Two militants were killed at Chuntipora Handwara in an encounter with police and 30 Rashtriya Rifles. The militants have been identified as district commander Usman Bhai and Abu Jibran of Pakistan. In another encounter, police claimed to have killed two more militants of LeT at Watergam area in Rafiabad Baramulla. The slain militants according to the police have been identified as Abu Khalid alias Abdullah and Abu Mujahid alias Haji of Pakistan.Meanwhile, two militants of Harkat-ul-Mujahideen, including its district commander, were killed and two soldiers wounded in a fierce gunfight at Vijhara area in Bandipora. The slain militants have been identified as district commander Rahimullah and his associate Sajjad Bhai.
June 3: Police and troops of 31 RR, 4 Para and 62 RR launched a joint operation in south Kashmir’s Shopian district and claimed to have killed two militants Meanwhile, troops and police allegedly killed a youth in fake encounter at Brar, Bandipora district. The deceased has been identified as Muhammad Ashraf Sheikh  (33), son of Muhammad Akbar R/o Pehlipora-Drawey, Kokernag.
June 4: Two people were injured when suspected militants hurled a grenade towards Para-military CRPF troopers in Shahr-e-Khas in Srinagar.Meanwhile, the death toll in the encounter at Koland Keran at LoC on June 2 has reached three with the police recovering bodies of two more militants, a police communiqué‚said.
June 5: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
June 6: A Soldier commits suicide by hanging himself to death inside a residential quarter at Malpur Akhnoor. The deceased solider has been identified as Lance Hawaldar Yashpal Singh son of Puran Singh resident of Mehandergarh Haryana.
June 7: A civilian identified as Latif Ahmad son of Ghulam Mustafa of Dehorat Jatli was killed in custody. He was arrested by SOG on June 6.However police said that the villager slipped from a hill-lock  
June 8: Unidentified persons hurled a grenade on the house of a cable operator, Lateef Ahmad, s/o Manzoor Ahmad at Iqabalabad, Warpora, and Sopur.The grenade missed the intended target and exploded outside the building. No one was wounded in the explosion. Meanwhile, Ghulam Nabi Khan son of Muhammad Maqbool, resident of Alochibagh was found in injured/ unconscious condition on Bund Tangpora Bridge in Srinagar.Police has registered a case and taken up investigations. In another incident, Troops of 268 Brigade intercepted a fresh group of infiltrating militants 
on the LoC in Keran sector and killed at least two militants.
June 9: Shabir Ahmad Wani, 24, son of Javid Ahmad Wani, a resident of Sogam.sustained injuries when he was fired upon by some unidentified gunmen at Sogam area Kupwara in North Kashmir. He was shifted to district hospital Kupwara for treatment where his condition was stated to be critical. Meanwhile Police claimed to have recovered a body of an elderly woman from Sundri Nallah in village Nagam in Kokernag area. The deceased has been identified as Rehmati, 65, wife of Abdul Qadoos Sheikh, a resident of Irkamoo Kokernag. Police have registered a case Under Section 174 CrPC in this connection. In another incident, Magam police recovered an unidentified burnt and decomposed body from the Yarimar orchards at Chichi Lora Magam.The body has been shifted to nearby hospital for autopsy and identification.
June 10: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) man committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon at Khan Sahib Camp in district Budgam. He has been identified as Constable of 89 Bn CRPF Lal Singh. Meanwhile, Police recovered body of minor, Anis Khan (6), son of Abdul Qadir, resident of Youl Turtuk Leh from Turtuk Nallah near Chuthang in Leh district of Ladakh. , Body of an unidentified female was recovered from river Jehlum near village Mujgund in Sumbal area. Police has registered two separate cases in this regard and initiated proceedings under section 174 CrPC. In another incident militants have reportedly gunned down a civilian identified as 42-year-old Mir Aalam S/o Ibrahim at Gujjarpatti Hayen, 3 Km from Kangan township on Srinagar-Leh highway in Kangan.
June 11:Army claimed to have killed a militant in an encounter in the highway township of Pattan in Baramulla district.
June 12: A Special Police Officer (SPO) committed suicide in north Kashmir, official sources said. SPO Nazir Ahmad Dar consumed some poisonous substance in his Zengam, Lolab house. However, he died before he could be shifted to hospital.
June 13: Three GREF troopers, including a commanding officer, and two soldiers of Territorial Army were killed in a militant attack on Chattro-Simthan road near Watsar, 45 kilometers from Kishtwar.The killed commanding officer has been identified as Lt Col Ajay Verma. The identity of others was not ascertained immediately. Meanwhile, Police recovered the body of Abdul Hamid Bhat son of Ghulam Moh-ud-din hailing from Makandpora in south Kashmir’s Kulgam district. The body was recovered from an orchard at Ram Garh Kulgam.Police said that Bhat was missing from March 21.In another incident, an army jawan shot himself to death with his service weapon in the Reasi district. The jawan has been identified as Immanuel Hmar (31), of 59 Rashtriya Rifles
June 14:A militant was killed and a police officer was injured in an encounter in Kekker Shopian district. The slain militant was identified as Aijaz Ahmad Shah, alias Janbaz son of Wazir Hussain of village Sangerwani Keller. 
June 15:One more militant was killed in the ongoing encounter in Kekker Shopian.He was identified as Bazeer Kalas son of Hussain of Dunaroo Nasarpora. Both militants belonged to Hizb-ul-Mujahideen outfit. Meanwhile, a seven-year-old boy was wounded when an explosives substance he was fiddling with went off at Manzgam Damhal Hanjipora Kulgam the wounded has been identified as Murtaza Nazir Laway son of Nazir Ahmad of Manzgam.  
June 16:No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
June 17: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
June 18: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
June 19: Police and troops of 7 Gadwal regiment claimed to have killed three militants during an encounter at Sona-Pandi Machil area near Line of Control in district Kupwara. The identity of the slain militants is being ascertained. Army claimed to have foiled an infiltration bid killing eight militants in Poonch sector. However, none of the body was recovered by the troops, which disputed the claim. But the Army claimed that the Pakistani rangers took the killed infiltrators back.
June 20: Police and troopers claimed to have killed a commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) in frontier district of Kuwpara.He was identified as Mehboob Ahmad Afridi alias Jugnu alias Faisal son of Moulvi Talib Afridi of Check Anjum Farmali, Pakistan was killed. Meanwhile, Police recovered the body of a 45-year-old man from the fields of Frisipora, Pulwama. The deceased has been identified as Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din Ganie son of Ghulam Rasool of Rohamoo.According to police, Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din was apparently killed by strangulation.
June 21:Police and Army claimed to have killed four militants during an encounter at Gagaldara Trehgam near the Line of Control in district Kupwara.
June 22: Police and Army claimed to have killed two Let militants at Nariwan in shopian. The slain militants have been identified as Nazir Ahmad alias Abu Muhammad son of Abdul Rehman of Gulabgarh, Reasi and Assadullah of Sialkote.Meanwhile, two militants and a CRPF man were killed at Shopribagh Zakura.The slain militants have been identified as Abu Saria and Abu Hurrira.
June 23: One person identified as Feroz Ahmad Rah s/o Gh.Hassan Rah of Botakadal was killed and 40 others were injured when paramilitary CRPF troopers opened fire on protestors at Nowhatta chowk in Srinagar .The youth were protesting against transfer of forest land to SASB.  
June 24: More than 100 people, including 17 policemen and seven paramilitary CRPF troopers, were injured in violent clashes in the city and Ganderbal over the transfer of forestland at Sonamarg to Shri Amarnath Shrine Board.
June 25: An 18-year old boy was killed and two others were injured when police and CRPF opened fire to disperse a procession at Mazhama in Magam area of Budgam district. He was identified as Farooq Ahmad Rather son of Abdur Rehman. Meanwhile, a 17-year old boy, Sameer Ahmad Batloo son of Ghulam Muhammad Batloo of Tashwan Fateh Kadal, Srinagar, was killed when CRPF troopers allegedly opened fire to disperse a procession.
June 26: Unidentified persons lobbed a grenade on the residence of a cable operator identified as Ashiq Hussain of Khanat Mohalla Gilgat Sopur in Varmul district, which caused minor damage to the house. Meanwhile, police has recovered a body of a 65-year-old man from Village Mazbug Varmul. According to police, he has been identified as Ghulam Mohi-u-Din Bhat of Rebon Sopore. Police has registered a case. In another incident, a BSF constable Abdul Hamid (No. 89150750) of 81 Bn shot himself with his service rifle in his room. The constable succumbed to his wounds on way to the hospital, the police said. A case has been registered in this regard.  
June 27:Two troopers were killed while a Junior Commission Officer (JCO) was critically injured during a gunfight at Kangan in central Kashmir’s Ganderbal district. The troopers were identified as Anil Singh of 24 RR and Bawar Singh of 10 JAKLI, while Anchal Singh, a JCO was critically injured. Meanwhile, suspected militants abducted and later killed a Special Police Officer (SPO) by slitting his throat at Gool area in Udhampur. According to a police communiqué, the deceased has been identified as Manzoor Ahmad (No.504) s/o Muhammad Subhan of Dharam.
June 28: A youth identified as Imtiyaz Ahmad s/o Habibullah Mundoo was injured when he became target of police firing during protest demonstrations against land transfer to SASB at Bemina Chowk.
June 29: Imtitaz Haroon who sustained injuries in CRPF firing on June 28 succumbed to his injuries. The youth were protesting against transfer of forestland to SASB 
June 30: Police claimed to have killed five militants during an encounter at Roshni Post near Sadhna Post in Karnah.
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6
-
-
-
JUNE 14
-
1
-
-
JUNE 15
-
1
-
-
JUNE 16
-
-
-
-
JUNE 17
-
-
-
-
JUNE 18
-
-
-
-
JUNE 19
-
3
-
-
JUNE 20
-
1
-
-
JUNE 21
-
4
-
-
JUNE 22
1
4
-
-
JUNE 23
-
-
1
-
JUNE 24
-
-
-

JUNE 25
-
-
2
-
JUNE 26
1
-
-
-
JUNE 27
3
-
-
-
JUNE 28
-
-
-
-
JUNE 29
-
-
1
-
JUNE 30
-
5
-
-
TOTAL
15
31
7
0
                                             In Total
53 Killings



Date
Custodial and extra judicial Killings
Women killed
Children Killed
Alleged Disappearances
June 3-08
1
-
-
-
June 7-08
1
-
-
-
June 16-08
-
-
-
1
June 28-08
-
-
-
1
TOTAL
2
0
0
2





